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This annual report has been prepared by the Company and its contents have been reviewed by the Company’s Sponsor, 
Stamford Corporate Services Pte. Ltd. (the “Sponsor”) for compliance with the relevant rules of  

the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”). The Company’s Sponsor has not independently  
verified the contents of this annual report.

This annual report has not been examined or approved by the SGX-ST and the SGX-ST assumes no responsibility  
for the contents of this annual report, including the correctness of any of the statements or  

opinions made or reports contained in this annual report.

The contact person for the Sponsor is Mr Bernard Lui, at Tel: (65) 6389 3000;
Email: bernard.lui@morganlewis.com
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2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
S$mil S$mil S$mil S$mil S$mil

FINANCIAL POSITION

Property, Plant & Equipment 11.8 10.1 6.4 3.9 4.2

Other Non-Current Assets 14.6 14.2 5.9 4.4 0.6

Current Assets (excludes*) 44.4 45.9 30.3 19.6 19.4

*Cash and Cash Equivalents 6.1 4.7 14.9 10.2 4.4

Total Assets 76.9 74.9 57.5 38.1 28.6

Other Non-Current Liabilities 1.5 1.4 1.3 1.1 0.4

Long-Term Borrowings 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Short-Term Borrowings 5.0 2.9 0.0 0.0 0.0

Other Current Liabilities 23.9 27.5 18.3 23.3 12.6

Total Liabilities 30.5 31.8 19.6 24.4 13.0

Capital Reserve 0.0 0.0 0.0 (22.8) 0.0

Translation Reserve (0.2) 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.1

Statutory Reserve 1.2 1.0 0.9 0.7 0.4

Revenue Reserve (15.5) (17.5) (21.5) (31.7) (11.4)

Equity Non-Controlling Interest 0.1 0.0 0.0 (6.6) 0.0

Share Capital 58.5 58.5 58.5 73.5 26.2

Total Capital & Reserve 46.9 43.2 38.0 13.3 15.3

Non-Controlling Interests (0.4) (0.1) (0.1) 0.4 0.3

Total Capital, Reserve & Non-Controlling Interests 46.5 43.1 37.9 13.7 15.6

FINANCIAL RATIOS

Net Tangible Assets Per Share S$ (Cents) 6.5 5.9 7.3 2.3 4.6

Earnings/(Loss) Per Share Before Tax S$ (Cents) 0.6 1.2 3.0 (3.4) 0.9

Earnings/(Loss) Per Share After Tax S$ (Cents) 0.4 0.9 2.7 (4.1) 0.8

TURNOVER  
S$ mil

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
NET PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 
S$ mil

NET PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER TAX
 S$ mil

2018 2018 2018

100.8

2.9 2.1

2017 2017 2017

94.3

6.0 4.2

2016 2016 2016

75.7
14.9

13.4

2015(1)

2015(1) 2015(1)

93.8

(26.3) (29.8)

2014 2014 2014

69.0

2.4 2.1

Note:

(1) “2015”: Period from 1 September 2014 to 31 December 2015.
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

GSS Energy Group 2018 activities 
were transformational. They will 
set a strong foundation for our 
Group’s performance. In May, 
we acquired a piece of land in 
Batam, Indonesia for Precision 
Engineering (PE) Division. We 
built a bigger factory to meet 
increased orders from our 
existing and new clients and 
their requirements for a more 
diversified range of higher 
valued products. The Division 
entered into related ventures 
for assembly and upstream 
distribution of two wheel 
e-vehicles.

In the Oil and Gas (O&G) Division, 
we successfully completed 
drilling of two exploratory oil wells 
in Trembul Area. Independent 
technical verification confirmed 
their commercially viable 
hydrocarbon reserves. We are 
having ongoing discussions with 
interested parties in partnering 
further exploratory activities, sale 
and distribution of the gas from 
the two wells.

Over the past three years, 
the Group made substantial 
investment in PE and O&G 
business, with minimal borrowings. 
The Group adhered to prudential 
financial management and 
together, contributed to a healthy 
financial position.

Going forward, the Group will 
maintain a balanced growth 
strategy for the two operating 
divisions. The commercialisation 
of the gas assets, held up by 

unexpected delays in regulatory 
approvals, is expected to be 
speeded up with the completion 
of the national electoral process. 
The PE business expansion 
program is on course. The 
col laborat ive partnership 
between PE and clients in the 
design, development and 
manufacture of new product 
lines augurs well for the success 
of new product launches.

The GSS Energy Group business 
model is unique in the O&G 
industry. In recent years, our well-
established PE business offers 
the “safety net” for the Group’s 
overall financial stability. Today, 
we believe O&G is on the way to 
self-sustainability with its assets. 
The two proven hydrocarbon 
reserves is expected to generate 
the cash flow shortly to enable 
the O&G business to yield 
financial returns commensurate 
with the capital investment. 
When these twin business 
operating assets are fully on 
stream, we can look forward to 
offering our shareholders in the 
not too distant future the returns 
they justifiably deserve for your 
faith in our Group.

It remains for me to appreciate 
my Board colleagues and 
on their behalf, to thank 
Management and all the staff for 
their hard work and dedication. 
I began by mentioning 2018 as 
a transformational year for GSS 
Energy Group. Today, I believe 
GSS stands at the threshold of 
growth. To our shareholders 
who journey with us through the 
years, we assure you of a bright 
future for GSS Energy Group.

ANTHONY KUEK
Chairman
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

On behalf of the Board of GSS 
Energy Limited (“GSS Energy” 

together with its subsidiaries, the 

“Group”), it is my privilege to 

deliver our Annual Report 2018 

for the financial year ended 

31 December 2018 (“FY 2018”).

I am pleased that our Group has 

turned in a profitable position in 

FY 2018 with a net profit after tax 

of S$2.1 million.

GSS Energy recorded a 

continuous growth in revenue 

for FY 2018, at S$100.8 million 

and gross profit increased 8.2% 

to S$20.7 million. Our financial 

performance was supported 

by our precision engineering 

business, which achieved net 

earnings of S$9.6 million in 

FY 2018, both from higher orders 

placed by its existing customers 

and from new projects.

THE PRECISION ENGINEERING 
BUSINESS
With the precision engineering’s 

operating principle to provide 

value services to its existing 

and potential customers, the 

business has continued its 

positive momentum through 

higher orders from existing 

customers and new projects.

With continuing requirements 

from its existing and interested 

potential customers, the 

precision engineering business 

has increased its capability and 

capacity with the completion of 

its new factory in Changzhou, 

China in Year 2017. The 

precision engineering group will 

start the printed circuit board 

assembly (“PCBA”) operations 

in Changzhou in Year 2019 and 

with that, will provide a full range 

of services to cater to the needs 

of our customers.

The Group further strengthen 

its capacity commitment by 

acquiring a 50,000 square 

metre piece of land in Batam, 

Indonesia. The construction of 

the first factory building on this 

piece of land is scheduled to 

be completed in the first half of 

Year 2019.

With the positive growth 

momentum from our existing 

projects, we are also actively 

exploring new business models, 

including collaboration with 

partners to provide product 

design initiatives, build new 

technologies and new products 

to ensure our sustainability and 

relevance.
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OIL AND GAS 
COMMERCIALISATION
With the discovery of the two 

proven hydrocarbon deposit 

wells in the Trembul Operating 

Area, the Group is in the 

process of obtaining regulatory 

approval to commercialise the 

gas deposits. The Group is also 

managing the operationally tight 

schedule under the exploratory 

timetable for the Kerja Sama 

Operasi (“KSO”) arrangement 

for the Trembul Operating Area.

The Trembul Operating Area 

is operated by our subisidary 

company, PT Sarana GSS 

Trembul (“PTSGT”). The Group 

holds an 89% economic interest 

in PTSGT with the remaining 

11% held by the Central Java 

Provincial Government-owned 

enterprise.

DIVIDENDS
The Group has carefully 

reviewed and evaluated its 

existing resources for the 

ongoing operations and 

expansion plans. The Board has 

decided not to recommend a 

dividend payment for FY 2018, so 

as to consolidate all its available 

financial resources to support 

the growth of the business and 

further enhance its value to its 

shareholders.

OUR PARTNERS
I would like to take this 

opportunity to express my 

heartfelt appreciation to our 

Board of Directors, management 

team and staff for their 

dedication and contribution. 

I would also like to thank our 

customers, suppliers, and 

business partners for their loyal 

and valuable support.

More importantly, the Group will 

continue to conduct its business 

with full attention in fulfilling its 

corporate social responsibility.

Yours Sincerely,

MR SYDNEY YEUNG
Group Chief Executive Officer
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MR KUEK ENG CHYE, 
ANTHONY
Non-Executive Chairman

MR YEUNG KIN BOND, 
SYDNEY
Executive Director and Group 

Chief Executive Director

Mr Yeung Kin Bond, Sydney is 
an Executive Director and Group 
Chief Executive Director of the 
Company.

He was appointed to the Board 
on 31 October 2014, and was 
last re-elected on 22 April 2016. 
Mr Yeung is also a member of 
the Nominating Committee.

Mr Yeung is also director of 
Giken Sakata (S) Limited, 
Giken Precision Engineering 
Pte Ltd, Changzhou Giken 
Precision Co Ltd, Changzhou 
Giken Technology Co Ltd, GSS 
Energy Investment Holdings 
Limited, Nusantara Resources 
Pte Ltd, GSS Energy Sumatra 
Limited, GSS Energy Trembul 
Limited, GSS Energy Oilfield 
Management Limited, Turbo 
Charge Limited, Turbo Charge 
(S) Pte. Ltd., Turbo Charge  (M) 
Sdn. Bhd., I-Motor Asia Limited, 

Eastern Giken International Co. 
Limited, Giken Trading (S) Pte. 
Ltd. and a commissioner of PT 
Giken Precision Indonesia and 
PT Sarana GSS Trembul, all 
subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr Yeung is the founder director 
and shareholder of Roots Capital 
Asia Limited, a substantial 
shareholder of the Company. 
Mr Yeung is also currently an 
Independent Director of Ares 
Asia Limited (Listed on the Hong 
Kong Stock Exchange).

Mr Yeung has many years of 
experience in the financial 
industry, starting his career in 
the Institutional Equity Division 
at Morgan Stanley New York 
and as the Managing Director 
of International Trading at Van 
der Moolen, a US securities 
specialist firm. Mr Yeung is an 
active member of the Rotary 

Club in Singapore.

Mr Kuek Eng Chye, Anthony, 

joined the Board as Independent 

Director from 18 November 2014 

and appointed Non-Executive 

Chairman of the Group on 

15 November 2016, and was 

last re-elected on 24 April 2017.

He is a member of the Audit 

Committee and chairs the 

Nominating and Remuneration 

Committees. He had served in 

other corporate commissions 

and Trusts.

Anthony had extens ive 

professional and consulting 

exper ience in Asia in 

i n t e rna t iona l  economic 

development, policy and 

strategic planning in banking, 

trade, finance and infrastructure 

development. He received his 

degrees in Economics, MBA and 

Adult Education.
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MR SUYULIANTO 
BADUNG TARIONO
Executive Director

MR NG SAY TIONG
Executive Director and Chief 

Financial Officer cum Company 

Secretary

Mr Ng Say Tiong is an Executive 

Director and Chief Financial 

Officer cum Company Secretary 

of the Company. He is also 

the President of Giken Sakata 

(S) Limited, a subsidiary of the 

Company. He was appointed 

to the Board on 31 October 

2014, and was last re-elected on 

24 April 2017.

Mr Ng is also a director of Giken 

Sakata (S) Limited, Changzhou 

Giken Precision Co Limited, 

Giken Precision Engineering Pte 

Ltd, Eastern Giken International 

Co Ltd, GSS Energy Investment 

Holdings Limited and Nusantara 

Resources Pte Ltd, all subsidiaries 

of the Company.

Mr Ng holds a Bachelor of 

Accountancy degree from the 

National University of Singapore 

and a Master of Business 

( Internat ional  Market ing) 

degree from Curtin University of 

Technology in Australia,

Mr Ng was previously the Vice 

Chairman of the Marsiling 

Citizen Consultative Committee 

and had previously served as 

the Chairman of the Fuchun 

Community Club Management 

Committee. Mr Ng was awarded 

a Public Service Medal (PBM) by 

the President of Singapore in the 

2012 National Day award.

Mr Badung Tariono is an Executive 

Director of the Company. He 

is the Head of the oil and gas 

division within the Company.

Mr Tariono was appointed to the 

Board on 1 July 2015, and was 

last re-elected on 22 April 2016.

Mr Tariono is also a director of 

GSS Energy Trembul Limited, 

Nusantara Resources Pte Ltd, 

GSS Energy Sumatra Limited, 

GSS Energy Oilfield Management 

Limited, and a commissioner 

of PT Sarana GSS Trembul, all 

subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr Tariono has a Master of 

Financial Management degree 

from the Rotterdam School 

of Management, Erasmus 

University, Rotterdam, The 

Netherlands and a Bachelor of 

Arts in Business Administration 

(Honours) degree from Coventry 

University, United Kingdom.

Mr Tariono had previously 

worked in various multinational 

companies including Shell 

In ternat ional  Exp lorat ion 

& Production, Rijswijk, The 

Netherlands, ABN AMRO Asset 

Management Limited, The 

Netherlands, UBS O’Connor 

Limited, London, United Kingdom. 

Mr Tariono had also previously 

served as an independent 

non-executive director of Bumi 

plc, a FTSE listed company in 

London, United Kingdom.
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MR CHEE SANFORD
Independent Director

MR FUNG KAU LEE, 
GLENN
Non-Independent  

Non-Executive Director

Mr Fung Kau Lee, Glenn is the 

Non-Independent Non-Executive 

Director of the Company.

He was appointed to the Board 

on 25 November 2016, and was 

last re-elected on 24 April 2017. 

Mr Fung is also a member of 

the Audit and Remuneration 

Committees. 

Mr Fung holds a Bachelor 

of Applied Science (Civil 

Engineering) and an MBA from 

University of British Columbia in 

Canada. He is also a member 

of Chartered Financial Analyst 

Institute.

Mr Fung has over 30 years of 

working experience in financial 

industry in Canada, New York, 

Korea and Hong Kong. Prior 

to relocating to Asia, he held 

management positions with 

major investment and securities 

firms including Merrill Lynch 

(Canada) and CIBC Wood 

Gundy. As Executive Vice 

President of HSBC Securities 

(Canada) and Vice President 

of HSBC Brokerage (USA), he 

managed HSBC’s investment 

advisory business in western 

Canada and California. In Asia, 

he was co-founder and director 

of Verde Asia Fund, a corporate 

social responsibility themed 

equity long/short fund.

Currently, Mr Fung serves as the 

Managing Director and CEO of 

N-Bridge Capital Group Limited, 

an infrastructure investment firm 

focused on Asia infrastructure 

investments.

Mr Chee Sanford is an 

Independent Director of the 

Company.

He was appointed to the Board 

on 18 November 2014, and was 

last re-elected on 22 April 2016. 

He is also the Chairman of the 

Audit Committee and a member 

of the Nominating Committee 

and Remuneration Committee.

Mr Chee holds a Master of 

Business Administration degree 

(Finance Major) from The 

Wharton School, University 

of Pennsylvania in USA where 

he was a Palmer Scholar and 

a Bachelor of Accountancy 

Degree (First Class Honours) 

from the Nanyang Technology 

University in Singapore.

Mr Chee was previously 

the Managing Director at 

Tiedemann Global Emerging 

Markets, responsible for equities 

investment across Asia. Before 

joining Tiedemann, Mr Chee 

was an Associate at York Capital 

Management Asia Advisors. Mr 

Chee had also worked as an 

investment banker at Lazard 

where he specialized in cross 

border M&A. Prior to that, he was 

a consultant at McKinsey and 

Bain and a portfolio manager at 

Koeneman Capital Management.
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Board of Directors
Kuek Eng Chye, Anthony (Independent Non-Executive Chairman)

Yeung Kin Bond, Sydney (Group Chief Executive Officer, Executive Director)

Ng Say Tiong (Executive Director)

Suyulianto Badung Tariono (Executive Director)

Chee Sanford (Independent Director)

Fung Kau Lee, Glenn (Non-Independent Non-Executive Director)

Audit Committee
Chee Sanford (Chairman)

Kuek Eng Chye, Anthony (Member)

Fung Kau Lee, Glenn (Member)

Nominating Committee
Kuek Eng Chye, Anthony (Chairman)

Yeung Kin Bond, Sydney (Member)

Chee Sanford (Member)

Remuneration Committee
Kuek Eng Chye, Anthony (Chairman)

Chee Sanford (Member)
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Registered Office
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Sponsor
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The Group recognises the importance of delivering long term value and sustainable returns to all our 
stakeholders. Sustainability is integral to our business operations. We identify and focus on areas of 
improvement. Our approach to sustainability is guided by several factors: listening to our stakeholders, 
identifying the key material Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) aspects of our business, and 
ensuring we have a sustainable framework in place to track our progress.

The Group is in the process of enhancing its sustainability reporting. We will be adopting international 
recognised framework such as GRI, to ensure content quality by applying the principle of accuracy, 
balance, clarity, comparability, reliability and timeliness, and will disclose the same in future reporting. 
The Group is also in the process of establishing performance measurement mechanisms, committments 
and targets in relation to the material ESG factors. This will be tabulated in future reporting in compliance 
with reporting requirements.

BOARD STATEMENT
The Board is responsible for the long-term strategic direction of the Group and that it has considered 
sustainability issues as part of its strategic formulation. The Board is committed to the Group’s effects 
towards the employment of sustainable practices as it our strategic approach to integrate sustainability 
in all aspects of our business and operations.

DEFINING MATERIAL ISSUES
Based on a Group-wide materiality assessment, we have outlined our strategic sustainability priorities 
through these steps:

1. Defining key issues which impact the execution of our business strategy;
2. Identifying the material ESG factors of the respective business areas, industry challenges and impact 

on the Group’s business;
3. Prioritising these critical factors and validate internally as pressing issues to address; and
4. Carefully re-examine and analyse the significant of material impacts and their outcomes on our 

business, stakeholders and the community at large;
5. Embedding best practices within our business operation processes where applicable;
6. We sought feedback from stakeholders through our day-to-day engagements and consultation with 

them to establish the direction for sustainability reporting.

The following are the material factors identified and prioritised.

Stakeholders Dialogue Environment Management

Corporate Governance

Risk Management

Employee Engagement

Customer Satisfaction

Business Continuity

Community Involvement

Workplace Safety
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ENGAGING STAKEHOLDERS
We regularly engage our stakeholders through various medium and channels to ensure that our business 
interests are aligned with those of our stakeholders, to understand and address their concerns and to 
enable us to improve our products standards, services, business operations and strategically aligned 
our resources for long term growth and sustainability.

Our stakeholders have been identified as those who are impacted by our business and operations 
and those similarly are able to impact our business and operations. We have identified six stakeholder 
groups through an assessment of their significant to operations, namely, investors, employees, customers, 
suppliers, local communities and government institutions.

Stakeholder 
Group

Objective/
expectations of 
the stakeholder

Modes of 
engagement

Frequency of 
engagement

Key interests by 
stakeholder group

GSS Energy’s 
response

Investors

• Maximise profits 
and obtain 
information 
needed to 
make sound 
investments 
decisions

• SGX 
announcements

• Quaterly • Profitability 
and financial 
sustainability of 
GSS Energy

• Maintain sustained 
growth with 
increase sales 
and cost-effective 
processes

• Annual report • Annually

• Annual General 
Meeting (“AGM”)

• Annually

• Timely and 
transparent 
disclosure of 
information and 
announcements

• Periodic and 
transparent 
communciation 
of financial and 
non-financial 
information

• Meeting analysts 
and investors

• As required

• Accessibility to 
management/
Investor Relations 
Team

• Maintain prompt 
response to 
feedback and 
queries

Employees

• Fair 
remunerations 
and career 
development 
and progression

• Orientation for 
new employees

• As appropriate • Employee 
engagement

• To assimiliate 
new hires into 
company’s culture• Family day • Annually

• Corporate Social 
Responsibility 
(CSR) activities

• Annually

• Increase team 
productivity 
through 
volunteerism

• To create 
corporate 
conscience, 
corporate 
citizenship or 
responsible

• Training • As appropriate

• Work opportunities 
and career 
advancements

• Yearly review of 
training needs 
analysis and 
competency 
framework across 
all job levels/
category

• Employee 
engagement

• Ad hoc events • As appropriate
• Employee welfare 

and benefits

• To foster teamwork 
and social 
interaction among 
employees
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Stakeholder 
Group

Objective/
expectations of 
the stakeholder

Modes of 
engagement

Frequency of 
engagement

Key interests by 
stakeholder group

GSS Energy’s 
response

Customers

• Receive products 
that meet their 
specifications at 
a competitive 
price

• Customer 
satisfaction survey

• Annually • Quality of products

• Maintain 
robust quality 
management 
system in line 
with international 
standards such as 
ISO9001, ISO13845, 
ISO14001 and 
IATF16949 
certifications.

• Period assessment 
by thrid-party 
certfication 
body to achieve 
certification

• Conduct quality 
audits on all its 
products

• Regular meetings 
and discussions 
with respective 
Project managers

• As required
• Responsiveness to 

requests

• Ensure that the 
Project Managers 
respond to 
their customers 
promptly and meet 
their needs

Suppliers
• Maintain a good 

relationship with 
its customers

• Regular meetings 
and discussions 
with respective 
Procurement 
Managers

• As required

• Receipt of prompt 
payments for 
goods and 
services rendered

• Ensure that GSS 
Energy complies 
with contract terms 
for timely payment

Local 
communities

• Ensure that 
organisations 
contribute 
positively to the 
community

• Cash donations 
to charitable 
organisations

• As appropriate

• Sustained Support 
for CSR projects

• Maintain good 
relationships 
with charitable 
organisations

• CSR events in 
collaboration 
with charitable 
organisations

• As appropriate

Government 
institutions 
and regulators 
(such as SGX, 
CPF, IRAS, and 
NEA)

• Implement 
and enforce 
standards and 
regulatory 
requirements

• Participate in 
meetings with 
government 
institutions and 
requlators

• As appropriate

• To ensure that 
organisations are 
in compliance 
with laws and 
regulations

• Keep all relevant 
employees abreast 
with changes 
to statutory 
requirements

• To ensure 
compliance with 
all applicable laws 
and regulations
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LABOUR PRACTICES AND CONDUCIVE WORKPLACE

Corporate Values and Business Conduct
Unethical and unlawful behaviour can have immense impact for our Group, both in terms of financial 

and legal consequences as well as reputation we have established over the years. As such, we have 

requested our employees to strictly adhere to our Code of Conduct and Business Ethics (“code”) and 

strict disciplinary action will be enforced in the event of violations of the code, including termination of 

employment in cases of serious beaches, aside from any other legal action such as fines, penalties, 

imprisonment or claims for damages that may ensue as a result of any breach of prevailing laws and 

regulations.

Code of Conduct and Business Ethics
1. Zero-tolerance against corruption, fraud, insider trading, theft or bribery;

2. Compliance with the Company’s internal policies, including appropriate disclosures, and internal 

controls;

3. Maintaining the Company’s policies around workplace health, safety measures that might endanger 

the life of safety of fellow employees and external parties;

4. Committed to fair respectful working conditions without discrimination;

5. General code of conduct in terms of handling of Company property, assets and disclosure of 

information or trade secrets of the Company without permission.

Our Human Resource Philosophy
GSS Energy’s integrated human capital strategy aims to recruit, develop and motivate employees to 

drive growth for the Group.

GSS Energy’s remuneration framework, comprising the following components, is aimed at fulfilling two 

objectives:

1. To attract and retain talents critical to achieving our business objectives; and

2. To align the employees’ compensation to shareholders’ wealth creation, through the following:

a. A base salary, which reflects the market worth of apposition, and benchmarked regularly to 

relevant industries to ensure competitiveness.

b. A short term incentive, which rewards employees for achieving financial targets and operational 

objectives in short term and the medium term. This incentive is paid based on individual 

performance and contribution and consists of variable bonus and profit sharing.

c. A long-term incentive, which rewards employees for achieving long-term growth and shareholders’ 

wealth creation through share ownership. This incentive is our key mechanism to retain talent and 

to align employee’s compensation to shareholders’ wealth creation.

As part of our human rights policy, we treat all employees with respect and dignity and give fair treatment, 

irrespective of gender, nationality, race or religion. We abide by labour laws and appropriate guidelines 

that promote fair employment practices and we embrace the principles of fair employment. Employees 

are provided with equal opportunities for progression within the organisation, training and development 

and other enrichment opportunities.
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The quality of our people is essential to the success of our Group. We work to maintain an effective and 

healthy organisation, resource talented people across the business, develop our people, grow and 

strengthen our leadership capabilities, and enhance employee performance through strong engagement. 

We emphasize recruiting right people for the job and provide training to develop them. We do not engage 

in child labour and when we recruit our staff, we will take into consideration of the minimum legal age 

governed by relevant employment regulations.

Our Group has set a policy that demands us to adhere to relevant legal and regulatory requirements 

and recognised industry standards. Our Group places high emphasis on safety and believes strongly in 

maintaining zero occupational injuries, diseases, property and environmental damage over the course 

of our work. Our staff represent our Group’s most important assets and we strive continuously to create 

a safe and healthy working environment for all our employees to thrive in.

The Group understands the importance of work-life balance. In appreciation of our diligent employees, 

we organised family trips and staff dinners to celebrate the Group’s achievements and to recognise the 

accomplishments of our staff. The Group also organise regular healthy lifestyle activities such as jogging, 

badminton games, bowling and trekking to promote balance work-life.

The Group launched the Rainbow Prize in 2016 to recognise, reward and encourage the school-going 

children of our employees for their good academic performance and to spur them to greater heights 

of excellence.

Hired on average of 2,300 workers in 2018

based in 
Singapore. The 

rest from overseas 
subsidiaries in 
Indonesia and 

China 

99
FEMALE

62%
MALE

38%
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Environmental initiatives
We are committed to environmental protection, reducing carbon emissions, preventing pollution, 

minimising wastage and utilising our resources efficiently. As part of our ongoing efforts to protect the 

environment, our Group implemented a waste recycling programme which involves the installation of 

separate bins to collect reusable waste for reuse and industrial waste water treatment system for our 

plant in China. The flaring of natural gas wastes valuable resources and contributes to climate change. 

We are working hard to reduce flaring associated with oil and gas production.

When oil is extracted from a reservoir, gas is also produced as the oil is brought to the surface. This is 

known as associated gas. The gas can be captured and used alongside with the oil. When there are no 

facilities to gather the gas, or they have insufficient capacity, it is sometimes flared, or burned. Flaring is 

also carried out for safety reasons to relieve pressure in the production system. Flaring wastes valuable 

energy resources and releases greenhouse gas into the atmosphere.

GSS Energy’s policy is to reduce any routine flaring or venting of associated gas at our operations to a 

level as low as technically feasible. We also aim to minimise operational flaring required for safety reasons 

such as during the start-up of a new facility.

The land clearance in Indonesia, conducted prior to the implementation of our oil and gas production 

programme, strictly adheres to Indonesian government and environmental regulations. There is no 

forestry area in the Trembul operating area, at Bloral Central Java Indonesia. This minimises any possible 

environmental impact and reduces the administrative start-up costs in relation to our operations in the 

area.

Giving Back to our community
Our employees are encouraged to be involved in community activities. We aim to inculcate the right 

values in our employees and intelligently tap the passion, creativity and energy of employees to give 

back to the communities in which they operate. We encourage staff to bring their family members and 

friends to participate, aiming to raise their social awareness and help them appreciate their life and 

value what they have.

As part of the effort to do our part for the community, we conduct regular visits to the All Saints Home to 

share joy with the elderly residents. In 2018, we organised an outing to the Singapore Changi Airport for 

the residents. It was a fun filled day, where they get to watch “Harry Potter” themed interactive installations 

that looks like the magical universe from the best-selling series.

In same year, we collaborated with Rotary Club of Queenstown Singapore to bring variety of fun 

programmes and games to All Saints Home. This include fun exercise that help the seniors to build 

physical strength and balance, and keep their minds sharp. As part of commitment to community 

activities, our China subsidiaries have extended the community activities to children welfare centre and 

senior centre during 2018.
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Assurance
We did not obtain external assurance for the Report. We have relied on our internal verification 

mechanisms for accuracy of the Report. Our financial statements have been independently audited. 

We will adopt a phased approach to our reporting, making progressive improvements to our reporting 

process.

Feedback
We welcome stakeholders’ comments, views and suggestions on this report. These and other queries can 

be addressed to feedback@gssenergy.com.sg.
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The Company is committed to raising the standard of corporate governance in order to protect the 
interest of its shareholders. The Board of Directors fully supports the principles and guidelines of the Code 
of Corporate Governance 2012 (the “Code”) as recommended by the Singapore Exchange Securities 
Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) and has put in place various mechanisms to ensure that effective corporate 
governance is practiced. The Board is pleased to report on the Company’s corporate governance 
processes and activities as required by the Code and the relevant sections of the Listing Manual of the 
SGX-ST (“Listing Manual”), Section B: Rules of Catalist (“Catalist Rules”).

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 (“FY2018”), the Group has complied in all material 
respects with the principles laid down by the Code, and where there is any material deviation, appropriate 
explanation has been provided within this Report. For easy reference, sections of the Code under 
discussion in this Report are specifically identified.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Principle 1:  Effective Board to lead and control the Company
Principle 2:  Strong and independent element on the Board
Principle 3:  Clear division of responsibilities and balance of power and authority

The Board of Directors consists of members from diverse backgrounds and possess core competencies, 
qualifications and skills, all of whom, as a group, provides the Board with a good mix of the necessary 
experience and expertise to direct and lead the Group. Their combined wealth and diversity of experience 
enables them to contribute effectively to the strategic growth and governance of the Group. The Board 
currently comprises six members, two of whom are independent directors.

The Board is chaired by Mr Anthony Kuek, in his capacity as the Non-Executive Chairman. Mr Kuek is 
also an Independent director. The day-to-day operational activities of the Group are handled by the 
management team headed by the Group Chief Executive Officer, Mr Sydney Yeung. None of the directors 
are related to one another.

Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the Board reviews and approves the Group’s strategic plans, key 
operational initiatives and major investment and funding decisions. It also identifies principal risks of the 
Group’s business and implements appropriate systems to manage those risks, review the Group’s financial 
performance and evaluate the performance and compensation of senior management personnel. These 
functions are carried out either directly or through Board Committees.

The number of meetings held in the period by the Board and the attendance thereat are as follows:

Board Meetings

No. of meetings Attendance

Mr Anthony Kuek 4 4

Mr Sydney Yeung 4 4

Mr Ng Say Tiong 4 4

Mr Sanford Chee 4 4

Mr Suyulianto Badung Tariono 4 1

Mr Glenn Fung 4 4
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The Constitution of the Company allows Directors to conduct meetings by teleconferencing or video 
conferencing. When a physical meeting is not possible, timely communications with members of the 
Board can be achieved through electronic means. The Board and Board Committees may also make 
decisions via the circulating and passing of resolutions in writing.

Other matters requiring Board’s approval include material acquisitions and disposal of assets, corporate 
and financial restructuring, share issuance, dividends and other returns to shareholders.

All new Directors are given an orientation of the Group’s business, governance practices and its strategic 
directions as well as industry-specific knowledge. Directors who have no prior experience as a director 
in a listed company are required to attend appropriate SGX-SID Listing Company Director Programmes 
offered by the Singapore Institute of Directors. The Directors are provided with briefings from time to time 
and are kept updated on relevant laws and regulations, including directors’ duties and responsibilities, 
corporate governance and developing trends and financial reporting standards and are encouraged to 
attend workshops and seminars to enhance their skills and knowledge, so as to enable them to properly 
discharge their duties as Board or Board committee members. The Directors also receive updates on the 
business of the Group through regular scheduled meetings and ad-hoc Board meetings.

The Board recognises that independence directors may over time develop significant insights in the 
Group’s business and operations, and can continue to provide noteworthy and valuable contribution 
objectively to the Board as a whole. The independence of the independent directors must be based on 
the substance of their professionalism, integrity, and objectivity, and not merely based on form; such as 
the number of years which they have served on the Board.

The Independent Directors meet on a need-be basis without the presence of the Management to discuss 
matters such as Group’s financial performance, corporate governance initiatives, Board processes, 
succession planning as well as leadership development and remuneration of the Executive Directors.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To assist the Board in discharging its oversight functions and enhance the Company’s corporate 
governance framework, various Board Committees, namely Audit Committee, Nominating Committee and 
Remuneration Committee have been constituted. All the Board Committees are actively engaged and 
play an important role in ensuring good corporate governance in the Company and within the Group. 
Minutes of the Board Committee meetings are available to all Board members. The Board acknowledges 
that while these various Board Committees have the authority to examine particular issues and report 
back to the Board with their decisions and recommendations, the ultimate responsibility on all matters 
lies with the Board.
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(1) Audit Committee

Principle 10:  Presentation of a balanced and understandable assessment of the company’s 
performance position and prospects

Principle 11:  Sound system of risk management and internal controls
Principle 12:  Establish an Audit Committee with written terms of reference which clearly sets 

out its authority and duties
Principle 13:  Effective and independent internal audit function

The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr Chee Sanford, an Independent Director and includes 
Mr Anthony Kuek (Non-Executive Chairman and an Independent Director) and Mr Glenn Fung 
(Non-Executive Director) as members.

The Board considers Mr Chee Sanford, who has extensive and practical financial management 
and experience, is well qualified to chair the Audit Committee.

The Board is satisfied that the Audit Committee members, collectively, have relevant accounting 
and related financial management expertise or experience and are appropriately qualified to 
discharge their responsibility.

The Audit Committee convened four meetings during the period under review, attended by 
members of the Audit Committee and relevant management staff. The Audit Committee has also 
meet with the external and internal auditors, without the presence of the Company’s management 
staff, at least once a year.

The Audit Committee carries out its functions in accordance with Section 201B (5) of the Companies 
Act (Cap. 50) (“Companies Act”) and the Code, including the following:

(a) reviewing the audit plans and results of the Company’s external audits;

(b) reviewing the results of internal audits conducted by the Company;

(c) reviewing the Group’s financial and operating results and accounting policies;

(d) reviewing the financial statements of the Company and the consolidated financial statements 
of the Group before their submission to the Directors of the Company and the external 
auditors’ report on those financial statements;

(e) reviewing the quarterly and full-year results announcements of the Company and the Group 
to the SGX-ST;

(f) ensuring the co-operation and assistance by management to external auditors;

(g) making recommendations to the Board of Directors on the appointment of the external 
auditors; and

(h) reviewing “interested person transactions” as defined in Chapter 9 of the Catalist Rules as 
is required by SGX-ST and ensuring that the transactions were on normal commercial terms 
and not prejudicial to the interests of the members of the Company.
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The Company adopted a whistle-blowing framework whereby staff of the Group may, in confidence, 
raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters. The 
framework includes arrangement for independent investigation and appropriate follow-up of such 
matters. No whistle-blowing report was received during the financial year under review.

In accordance with the requirements of Rule 716 of the Catalist Rules, the Audit Committee and 
the Board are satisfied that the appointment of different auditors for four of the subsidiaries would 
not compromise the standard and effectiveness of the audit of the Group.

The aggregate fees paid/payable to the external auditors of the Company for audit services 
amounted to $148,000. There was no non-audit fee paid to the Company’s external and other 
auditors for the financial year ended 31 December 2018.

The Audit Committee is kept abreast by the management and the external auditors of change to 
accounting standards, the Listing Manual and other regulations that could have an impact on the 
Group’s business and financial statements.

Through the quarterly and annual financial statements and timely announcements to shareholders, 
the Board aims to provide shareholders with adequate details that would allow a balanced and 
understandable assessment of the Group’s financial performance, position and prospects. This 
responsibility extends to reports to regulators. The Audit Committee has been tasked to review the 
Company’s financial information to ensure that the objective is met.

The Board is committed to maintaining a sound system of internal controls, including financial, 
operational, information technology, compliance, and risk management systems to safeguard the 
interests of the shareholders and the Group’s assets. Reviews are undertaken to ensure that the 
system of internal controls maintained by the Group is sufficient to provide reasonable assurance 
that the Group’s assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or dispositions, that 
transactions are properly authorised, and proper financial records are maintained.

The Audit Committee annually reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal audit function 
to ensure that the internal audits are performed effectively. The Audit Committee is of the opinion 
the internal audit function is independent, effective and adequately resourced. 

The Group also periodically reviews operational and compliance control areas through the various 
heads of department, and has continuously made improvements with the assistance of regular 
internal reviews.

The Audit Committee has been given full access to the resources required along with the 
co-operation of, the management and has been given the resources required for it to discharge 
its function properly. It also has full discretion to invite any Director and executive officer to attend 
its meetings. The external auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee.

For FY2018, the Board has received assurance from the Group Chief Executive Officer and the Chief 
Financial Officer that:

a) the financial records have been properly maintained and the financial statements give a 
true and fair view of the Group’s operations and finances; and

b) the system of risk management and internal controls in place within the Group (including 
financial, operational and compliance) are sufficiently adequate and effective in addressing 
the material risks in the Group in its current business environment.
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In line with the Rule 705(5) of the Catalist Rules, the Board provides a negative assurance 
confirmation to the shareholders in its quarterly financial statements announcements, confirming 
that to the best of its knowledge, nothing has come to the attention of the Board which might 
render the financial statements false or misleading in any material aspect.

In addition, the Company has, pursuant to Rule 720(1) of the Catalist Rules, received undertakings 
from all its Directors and executive officers that they shall each, in the exercise of their powers and 
duties as Directors and executives officers, comply with the provisions of SGX-ST’s Catalist Rules, 
the Securities and Futures Act (Cap. 289), The Singapore Code on Takeovers & Mergers, and the 
Companies Act (Cap. 50) and will also procure the Company to do so.

During FY2018, there was no non-audit related work carried-out by the external auditors; hence 
there was no fee paid on this aspect. The Audit Committee is satisfied with their independence 
and has recommended to the Board of Directors the nomination of BDO LLP, for re-appointment 
as external auditors of the Company at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

The number of meetings held in the year by the Audit Committee and the attendance thereat are 
as follows:

Audit Committee Meetings

No. of meetings Attendance

Mr Chee Sanford 4 4

Mr Anthony Kuek 4 4

Mr Glenn Fung 4 4

Based on the internal and financial controls established and maintained by the Group and reviews 
performed by the management and external auditors respectively, the Audit Committee and the 
Board are of the opinion that the Group’s internal controls, addressing financial, operational, 
information technology, compliance risks and the risk management systems, were adequate and 
effective at 31 December 2018.

(2) Nominating Committee

Principle 4:  Formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of the 
Directors to the Board

Principle 5:  Formal assessment of effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution 
by each Director to the effectiveness of the Board

Principle 6:  Board members should be provided with complete, adequate and timely 
information

The Nominating Committee is chaired by Mr Anthony Kuek, the Non-Executive Chairman and an 
Independent Director, and includes Mr Sydney Yeung (Executive Director) and Mr Chee Sanford 
(Independent Director) as members.
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The Nominating Committee met and reviewed the following during the period under review:

(a) the adherence to the Code of Corporate Governance;

(b) the appointment of new Directors to the Board;

(c) the recommendation of Directors seeking re-appointment at the Annual General Meeting; 
and

(d) the independence of the Independent Directors.

The number of meetings held in the period by the Nominating Committee and the attendance 
thereat are as follows:

Nominating Committee Meetings

No. of meetings Attendance

Mr Anthony Kuek 2 2

Mr Sydney Yeung 2 2

Mr Chee Sanford 2 2

The Nominating Committee is satisfied that the current size and composition of the Board has 
adequate ability to meet the Company’s existing scope of needs and the nature of operations. 
From time to time, the Nominating Committee will review the appropriateness of the current Board 
size, taking into consideration the changes in the nature and scope of operations as well as the 
regulatory environment.

Each member of the Nominating Committee shall abstain from voting on any recommendation 
and/or participating in respect of matters in which he/she has an interest.

The independence of each director is assessed and reviewed annually by the Nominating 
Committee. In its deliberation as to the independence of a director, the Nominating Committee 
took into account examples of relationships as set out in the Code, considered whether a director 
had business relationships with the Group, and if so, whether such relationships with the Group, 
and if so, whether such relationships could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with 
the exercise of the directors’ independent judgements.

When reviewing directors for appointment and reappointment, the Nominating Committee 
appraises the candidates to ensure that they possess relevant experience and have the calibre to 
contribute to the Group and its businesses, having regard to the attributes of the existing Board and 
the requirements of the Group. New Directors are appointed by way of a Board resolution, upon 
their nomination by the Nominating Committee. In accordance with the Company’s Constitution, 
these new directors are appointed by the Board are subject to re-election by shareholders at the 
first opportunity after their appointment. The Constitution also provides that at least one third of 
the remaining Directors are subject to re-election by rotation at each Annual General Meeting 
(“AGM”). This will enable all shareholders to exercise their rights in selecting all Board members. 
The Board has accepted the Nominating Committee’s nomination and has recommended the 
following Directors, who have their consents for re-elections, to be put forward for re-election at 
the forthcoming AGM:

Yeung Kin Bond Sydney (Retiring pursuant to Article 89)
Fung Kau Lee Glenn (Retiring pursuant to Article 89)
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Pursuant to Rule 720(5) of the Catalist Rules of the SGX-ST, the information set out in Appendix 7F 
relating to the above Directors to be put forward for re-election at the forthcoming AGM is disclosed 
below:

Name of Director Yeung Kin Bond Sydney Fung Kau Lee Glenn

Date of Appointment 31 October 2014 25 November 2016

Date of last re-appointment 
(if applicable)

22 April 2016 24 April 2017

Age 45 63

Country of principal residence Singapore Hong Kong

The Board’s comments on this 
appointment (including rationale, 
selection criteria, and the search and 
nomination process)

The re-elect ion of 
Mr Yeung as the 
Execut i ve  D i rec to r 
was recommended 
by the Nominating 
Committee and the 
Board has accepted the 
recommendation, after 
taking into consideration 
h i s  qua l i f i ca t ions , 
e x p e r t i s e ,  p a s t 
experience and overall 
contribution since he was 
appointed as a Director 
of the Company.

The re-election of Mr Fung 
as the Non-Executive 
N o n - I n d e p e n d e n t 
D i r e c t o r  w a s 
r e c o m m e n d e d  b y 
t h e  N o m i n a t i n g 
Committee and the 
Board has accepted the 
recommendation, after 
taking into consideration 
h i s  qua l i f i ca t ions , 
e x p e r t i s e ,  p a s t 
experience and overall 
contribution since he was 
appointed as a Director 
of the Company.

Whether appointment is executive, and 
if so, the area of responsibility

Executive, Mr Yeung is 
responsible for day-to-day 
management decisions 
and for implementing 
the Company’s long and 
short-term plans.

Non-Executive

Job Title (e.g. Lead ID, AC Chairman, AC 
Member etc.)

Execut ive  D i rector , 
Nominating Committee 
Member

Non-Execut ive Non-
Independent Director, 
Audit Committee and 
Remuneration Committee 
Member

Professional qualifications Bachelor Degree, Science • Bachelor of Applied 
S c i e n c e  ( C i v i l 
Engineering)

• Master in Business 
Administration

• Member of Chartered 
F inancial  Analyst 
Institute
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Name of Director Yeung Kin Bond Sydney Fung Kau Lee Glenn

Working experience and occupation(s) 
during the past 10 years

2010-Current: Director, 
Roots Capital Asia Limited

2011-Current: Director, 
Ares Asia Limited

2013-2016: Independent 
Di rector of  China 
Gaoxian Fibre Fabric 
Holdings Ltd

2007-Current: Director, 
Sundan Pacific Limited

2015-Current: CEO of 
N-Bridge Capital Group 
Limited

Shareholding interest in the listed issuer 
and its subsidiaries

Yes Yes

Shareholding details Deemed to have an 
interest in the 90,675,000 
shares held by Roots 
Capital Asia Limited.

Deemed to have an 
interest in the 66,700,000 
shares held by Sundan 
Pacific Limited.

Any relationship (including immediate 
family relationships) with any existing 
director, existing executive officer, the 
issuer and/or substantial shareholder of 
the listed issuer or of any of its principal 
subsidiaries

None None

Conflict of interest (including any 
competing business)

None None

Undertaking (in the format set out in 
Appendix 7.7) under Rule 720(1) has 
been submitted to the listed issuer

Yes Yes

Other Principal Commitments including Directorships

Past (for the last 5 years) 1) China Gaoxian Fibre 
Fabric Holdings Ltd

2) Cepu Sakti Energy Pte. 
Ltd.

3) Roots Capital Strategic 
Pte Ltd

4) Maiplay Pte Ltd

5) Global  In i t iat ives 
Communications Pte 
Ltd

6) Pioneer Capital Mgmt, 
Inc

None
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Name of Director Yeung Kin Bond Sydney Fung Kau Lee Glenn

Present 1) Giken Sakata (S) 
Limited

2) Giken Precis ion 
Engineering (S) Pte. 
Ltd.

3) PT Giken Precision 
Indonesia

4) Changzhou Giken 
Precision Co., Ltd.

5) Changzhou Giken 
Technology Co., Ltd.

6) PT Giken Technology 
Indonesia

7) I-Motor Asia Limited

8) Giken Trading (S) 
Pte. Ltd.

9) Tu rbo  Charge 
Limited

10) Turbo Charge (S) 
Pte. Ltd.

11) Turbo Charge (M) 
Sdn. Bhd.

12) N u s a n t a r a 
Resources (S) Pte. 
Ltd.

13) GSS Energy Sumatra 
Limited

14) GSS Energy Oilfield 
M a n a g e m e n t 
Limited

15) GSS Energy Trembul 
Limited

16) G S S  E n e r g y 
Investment Holdings 
Limited

17) Eas te rn  G iken 
International Co. 
Limited

18) Arella Worldwide 
Limited

19) Roots Capital Asia 
Limited

20) Ares Asia Ltd

1) N-Bridge Capital 
Group Limited

2) Sundan Paci f ic 
Limited
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Name of Director Yeung Kin Bond Sydney Fung Kau Lee Glenn

Information required pursuant to Catalist Rules 704(6) and/or 704(7)

(a) Whether at any time during the 
last 10 years, an application or a 
petition under any bankruptcy law 
of any jurisdiction was filed against 
him or against a partnership of 
which he was a partner at the time 
when he was a partner or at any 
time within 2 years from the date he 
ceased to be a partner?

None None

(b) Whether at any time during the 
last 10 years, an application or 
a petition under any law of any 
jurisdiction was filed against an 
entity (not being a partnership) 
of which he was a director or 
an equivalent person or a key 
executive, at the time when he 
was a director or an equivalent 
person or a key executive of that 
entity or at any time within 2 years 
from the date he ceased to be a 
director or an equivalent person 
or a key executive of that entity, 
for the winding up or dissolution 
of that entity or, where that entity 
is the trustee of a business trust, 
that business trust, on the ground 
of insolvency?

None None

(c) Whether there is any unsatisfied 
judgment against him?

None None

(d) Whether he has ever been convicted 
of any offence, in Singapore or 
elsewhere, involving fraud or 
dishonesty which is punishable 
with imprisonment, or has been the 
subject of any criminal proceedings 
(including any pending criminal 
proceedings of which he is aware) 
for such purpose?

None None
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Name of Director Yeung Kin Bond Sydney Fung Kau Lee Glenn

(e) Whether he has ever been convicted 
of any offence, in Singapore or 
elsewhere, involving a breach of any 
law or regulatory requirement that 
relates to the securities or futures 
industry in Singapore or elsewhere, 
or has been the subject of any 
criminal proceedings (including any 
pending criminal proceedings of 
which he is aware) for such breach?

None None

(f) Whether at any time during the 
last 10 years, judgment has been 
entered against him in any civil 
proceedings in Singapore or 
elsewhere involving a breach of 
any law or regulatory requirement 
that relates to the securities or 
futures industry in Singapore or 
elsewhere, or a finding of fraud, 
misrepresentation or dishonesty 
on his part, or he has been the 
subject of any civil proceedings 
(including any pending civil 
proceedings of which he is aware) 
involving an allegation of fraud, 
misrepresentation or dishonesty on 
his part?

None None

(g) Whether he has ever been 
convicted in Singapore or elsewhere 
of any offence in connection with 
the formation or management of 
any entity or business trust?

None None

(h) Whether he has ever been 
disqualified from acting as a 
director or an equivalent person 
of any entity (including the trustee 
of a business trust), or from taking 
part directly or indirectly in the 
management of any entity or 
business trust?

None None

(i) Whether he has ever been the 
subject of any order, judgment 
or ruling of any court, tribunal or 
governmental body, permanently 
or temporarily enjoining him from 
engaging in any type of business 
practice or activity?

None None
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Name of Director Yeung Kin Bond Sydney Fung Kau Lee Glenn

(j) Whether he has ever, to his 
knowledge, been concerned with 
the management or conduct, in 
Singapore or elsewhere, of the 
affairs of:–

None None

(i) any corporation which has 
been investigated for a breach 
of any law or regulatory 
requ i rement  govern ing 
corporations in Singapore or 
elsewhere; or

(ii) any entity (not being a 
corporation) which has been 
investigated for a breach 
of any law or regulatory 
requ i rement  govern ing 
such entities in Singapore or 
elsewhere; or

(iii) any business trust which has 
been investigated for a breach 
of any law or regulatory 
requ i rement  govern ing 
business trusts in Singapore or 
elsewhere; or

(iv) any entity or business trust 
which has been investigated 
for a breach of any law or 
regulatory requirement that 
relates to the securities or 
futures industry in Singapore 
or elsewhere, in connection 
with any matter occurring or 
arising during that period when 
he was so concerned with the 
entity or business trust? 

None None

(k) Whether he has been the subject 
of any current or past investigation 
or disciplinary proceedings, or has 
been reprimanded or issued any 
warning, by the Monetary Authority 
of Singapore or any other regulatory 
authority, exchange, professional 
body or government agency, 
whether in Singapore or elsewhere?

None Yes
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Name of Director Yeung Kin Bond Sydney Fung Kau Lee Glenn

If Yes, Please provide full details Mr. Fung was investigated 
by the Investment Dealers 
Association of Canada 
in 2001 over the conduct 
of an employee he was 
supervising while working 
for HSBC (Canada). The 
case was closed with a 
settlement of C$25,000 
and with no admission 
of guilt. Mr Fung was 
subsequently prompted 
to Vice President of HSBC 
Brokerage (USA).

Disclosure applicable to the appointment of Director only.

Any prior experience as a director of an 
issuer listed on the Exchange?

If yes, please provide details of prior 
experience.

If no, please state if the director has 
attended or will be attending training on 
the roles and responsibilities of a director 
of a listed issuer as prescribed by the 
Exchange.

Please provide details of relevant 
experience and the nominating 
committee’s reasons for not requiring the 
director to undergo training as prescribed 
by the Exchange (if applicable).

Not applicable Not applicable

The Board of Directors will assess the performance and effectiveness of the Board as a whole. The 
executive directors are assessed on the performance of the division for which they are responsible. 
The evaluation exercise is carried out by reviewing the performance of the Group and its respective 
divisions.

The Nominating Committee considers that the multiple board representations held presently by 
some directors do not impede their performance in carrying out their duties to the Company and 
in fact enhances the performance of the Board as it broadens the experience and knowledge of 
the Board.
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To enable the Board to function effectively and to fulfil its responsibilities, Management recognizes 
its obligation to supply the Board and the Board Committees with complete, adequate information 
in a timely manner. In addition, all relevant information on the Group’s annual budgets, financial 
statements, material events and transactions complete with background and explanations 
are circulated to Directors as and when they arise. A system of communication between the 
Management and the Board has been established and will improve over time.

(3) Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr Anthony Kuek, the Non-Executive Chairman and an 
Independent Director, and includes Mr Chee Sanford (Independent Director) and Mr Glenn Fung 
(Non-Executive Director) as members.

The Remuneration Committee met and reviewed the following during the period under review:

(a) the remuneration package for Executive Directors;

(b) the fees for the Non-Executive Directors; and

(c) oversee the share options scheme.

The number of meetings held in the year by the Remuneration Committee and the attendance 
thereat are as follows:

Remuneration Committee Meetings

No. of meetings Attendance

Mr Anthony Kuek 2 2

Mr Chee Sanford 2 2

Mr Glenn Fung 2 2

REMUNERATION MATTERS

Principle 7:  Formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on executive remuneration 
and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual Directors

Principle 8:  Level of remuneration of Directors should be appropriate and not excessive
Principle 9:  Clear disclosure of remuneration policy, level and mix of remuneration, and procedure 

for setting remuneration

The Group’s remuneration policy is to provide compensation packages at market rates which reward 
good performance and attract, retain and motivate the Directors and executives officers.

The Company does not use contractual provisions to allow the Group to reclaim incentive components of 
remuneration from the Executive Directors and key management personnel in exceptional circumstances 
of misstatement of financial results, or of misconduct resulting in financial loss to the Company. The 
Executive Directors owe a fiduciary duty to the Company. The Company should be able to avail itself to 
remedies against the Executive Directors in the event of such breach of fiduciary duties.
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The Board has not included a separate annual remuneration report to shareholders in the annual report 
on the remuneration of Directors and the top five key management personnel (who are not Directors or 
the CEO of the Company) as the Board is of the view that the matters which are required to be disclosed 
in such annual remuneration report have already been sufficiently disclosed in this report and in the 
financial statements of the Company. It would not be in the best interest of the Group to disclose the 
specific remuneration of each individual Director and key management personnel (who are not also 
Directors of the Company) having regard to the highly competitive environment in which it operates. 
The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the practice of the industry in this regard, weighing the 
advantages and disadvantages of such disclosure.

The Company had previously adopted the GSS Energy Limited Executives’ Share Option Scheme (the 
“GEL Scheme”) and GSS Energy Limited 2018 Executives’ Option Scheme (“GEL 2018 Scheme”), to 
acknowledge the contributions made by key management and staff to the well-being and prosperity of 
the Group and to allow them to have a real and meaningful stake in the Company at a relatively low 
direct cost. The Executive Directors, Independent Directors, employees, controlling shareholders and their 
associates are eligible to participate in the Scheme in accordance with the Rules of the GEL Scheme 
and GEL 2018 Scheme.

The Executive Directors do not receive any Directors’ fee. The Company advocates a performance-based 
remuneration system for Executive Directors and key management personnel that is flexible and responsive 
to the market, comprising a base salary, as well as variable performance bonus which is based on the 
Group’s performance and the individual’s performance such as management skills, process skills, people 
skills and business planning skills. This is designed to align remuneration with the interests of shareholders 
and link rewards to corporate and individual performance so as to promote the long-term sustainability 
of the Group.

Remuneration paid to the directors and key management of the Company for the period under review 
are as follows:

Name of Director/Key Management

Salary,
Allowances
& Benefits Bonus

Directors’
Fees Total

     

Name of Director

Below S$250,000

Anthony Kuek – – 100% 100%
Chee Sanford – – 100% 100%

S$250,000 – S$499,999

Ng Say Tiong 71% 29% – 100%
Badung Tariono 92% 8% – 100%
Sydney Yeung 100% – – 100%

Name of key management

S$250,000 – S$499,999

Lee Kok Beng(1) 78% 22% – 100%

Note:
(1) Lee Kok Beng holds a position as vice-president of Precision Engineering business segment.
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The remuneration of the other key management of the Group (excluding Directors of the Company) does 
not exceed S$250,000 for FY2018.

None of the employees of the Group whose annual remuneration exceeds S$50,000 are immediate family 
members of the Chief Executive Officer or any other Director of the Company as at 31 December 2018.

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

The Company has established a procedure for recording and reporting interested person transactions. All 
interested person transactions are subject to review by the Audit Committee to ensure they were carried 
out on a normal commercial terms.

There were no interested person transactions for the period under review.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Pursuant to Rule 1204(8) of the Catalist Rules, there was no material contract involving the interests of 
any director or controlling shareholder entered into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries since the 
end of the previous financial year. There was no such contract subsisted at the end of the financial year 
under review.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Principle 14:  Shareholders rights
Principle 15:  Communication with Shareholders
Principle 16:  Conduct of Shareholders meetings

The Company does not practice selective disclosure. In line with continuous disclosure obligations of the 
Company pursuant to the Listing Manual and the Companies Act (Cap. 50), the Company’s policy is that 
all shareholders should be equally and timely informed of all major developments that impact the Group.

Information is communicated to all shareholders on a timely basis through:

(a) annual reports that are prepared and issued to all shareholders. The Company makes every effort 
to ensure that all relevant information about the Group and other disclosures that are required by 
the SGX-ST, the Companies Act (Cap. 50) and Singapore Statements of Accounting Standard, are 
included in the Annual Report;

(b) periodic financial statements containing a summary of the financial information and affairs of the 
Group for the period that are reported through the SGXNET;

(c) notices and explanatory notes for annual general meetings and extraordinary general meetings;

(d) disclosures to the SGX-ST; and

(e) the Group’s website at www.gssenergy.com.sg, at which shareholders can access information 
on the Group. The website provides, inter alia, information on the Group’s corporate disclosure, 
corporate data, corporate profile and annual reports.
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Shareholders are encouraged to attend the AGM to ensure a high level of accountability and to stay 
informed of the Group’s strategy and objectives. If shareholders are unable to attend any meetings of the 
Company, the Constitution of the Company allows shareholders to appoint up to two (2) proxies to vote 
on their behalf through proxy forms sent in advance. The Board welcomes questions from shareholders, 
either formally at the AGM or informally, before and after the AGM.

In line with the amendments to the Companies Act, the Constitution allows corporate Shareholders which 
provide nominee or custodial services to third parties to appoint more than two proxies to attend and 
vote on their behalf at general meetings.

The AGM serves as the principal forum for shareholders to obtain information and give feedback about 
the Group.

Separate resolutions on each distinct issue are tabled at general meetings and voting on each 
resolution by poll is carried out systematically with proper recording of votes cast and the resolution 
passed. “Bundling” of resolutions are kept to a minimum and are done only where the resolutions are 
interdependent so as to form one significant proposal and only where there are reasons and material 
implications justifying the same.

All resolutions at general meetings are voted by poll and announcement of the detailed results showing 
the number of votes cast for and against each resolution and the respective percentages are made via 
the SGXNET.

The Board, Chairmen of the Board Committees, management and external auditors are available at 
general meetings to address any questions the shareholders may have concerning the Group.

The Company also solicits the views of the shareholders through analyst briefings and meetings with 
investors and fund managers. The Company is open to meetings with investors and analysts, and 
conducting such meetings, the Company is mindful of the need to ensure fair disclosure.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy of paying dividends of not less than 20% of the Group’s 
consolidated profit after tax, excluding non-controlling interests and non-recurring, one-off and 
exceptional items, in respect of the financial years ended FY2018 and financial year ending 31 December 
2019 (“FY2019”). The dividend policy for FY2018 and FY2019 was adopted to give clearer guidance to 
shareholders of the potential dividend payout, which will be pegged to the financial performance of the 
Group for the relevant financial years. The Board may review the dividend policy and reserves the right 
to amend, modify or cancel this dividend policy as and when it deems necessary.

The Board reviewed the Group’s resources for ongoing operations and plans for expansion, and 
considered the consolidation of all available financial resources would enable the Group to use them 
more efficiently to support growth and enhance shareholder value. In this connection, a dividend was 
not recommended for this year.
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DEALING IN SECURITIES

Following the introduction of the Code, the Company has brought to the attention of its employees the 
implications of insider trading and recommendations of the Code.

In compliance with the Rule 1207(19) of the Catalist Rules, the Company has adopted and implemented 
an internal compliance code which prohibits securities dealings by Directors and employees while in 
possession of unpublished price-sensitive information. Officers are discouraged to deal in the Company’s 
securities on short-term considerations.

Directors, executives and any other employees who have access to material price-sensitive information are 
prohibited from dealing in securities of the Company prior to the announcement of a matter that involves 
material unpublished price-sensitive information. They are required to report on all their dealings in the 
Company’s securities to the Company. They are also prohibited from dealing in the Company’s securities 
during the period commencing one month before the announcement of the Company’s quarterly or 
full-year results and ending on the day after the announcement of the quarterly and full-year results.

CATALIST SPONSOR

In compliance with Rule 1204 (20) of the Catalist Rules, no non-sponsor fees was paid to the Sponsor, 
Stamford Corporate Services Pte. Ltd., for the year under review.
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The Directors of GSS Energy Limited (“the Company”) present their statement together with the audited 
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) for the financial year ended 
31 December 2018, the statement of financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2018 and 
statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2018.

1. OPINION OF THE DIRECTORS

In the opinion of the Board of Directors,

(a) the consolidated financial statements of the Group, the statement of financial position and 
statement of changes in equity of the Company together with the notes thereon are drawn up 
so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company 
as at 31 December 2018, and of the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows 
of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the financial year then ended; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company 
will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

2. DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are as follows:

Mr Yeung Kin Bond, Sydney
Mr Suyulianto Badung Tariono
Mr Ng Say Tiong
Mr Chee Sanford
Mr Kuek Eng Chye, Anthony
Mr Fung Kau Lee, Glenn

3. ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any 
arrangement whose object is to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means 
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures, of the Company or any other body corporate except 
as disclosed in paragraph 5 below.
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4. DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

According to the register kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the Singapore 
Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”), none of the Directors holding office at the end of 
the financial year had any interest in the shares or debentures of the Company or its related 
corporations at the beginning, or date of appointment, if later, and end of the financial year, 
except as follow:

Shareholdings registered 
in the name of Directors 

or their nominees
Shareholdings in which 

Directors are deemed to have an interest
Name of Directors and 
company in which 
interests are held

As at  
1 January 

2018

As at  
31 December 

2018

As at  
1 January 

2018

As at  
31 December 

2018

As at  
21 January 

2019
Number of ordinary shares

Company
Roots Capital Limited
– Yeung Kin Bond, 

Sydney – – 90,675,000 90,675,000 90,675,000
Sundan Pacific Limited
– Fung Kau Lee, Glenn – – 66,700,000 66,700,000 66,700,000

By virtue of section 7 of the Act, Yeung Kin Bond, Sydney and Fung Kau Lee, Glenn are deemed to 
have interest in all the subsidiary corporations of the Company. In accordance with the continuing 
listing requirements of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), the Directors 
of the Company state that, according to the Register of the Directors’ Shareholdings, the Directors’ 
interest as at 21 January 2019 in the shares of the Company have not changed from those disclosed 
as at 31 December 2018.

5. SHARE OPTIONS

The GSS Energy Limited Executives’ Share Option Scheme (the “GEL Scheme”) for key management 
personnel and employees of the Group (collectively referred to as “Eligible Persons”) was approved 
by members of the Company at the Annual General Meeting on 24 April 2017.

On 23 April 2018, the members of the Company approved GSS Energy Limited 2018 Executives’ 
Option Scheme (“GEL 2018 Scheme”).

The GEL Scheme and GEL 2018 Scheme are share incentive schemes (collectively known as “GEL 
Schemes”). The objective of the GEL Schemes is to attract, retain and motivate key employees of 
the Company and its related companies by providing them the opportunity to acquire a proprietary 
interest in the Company and to align their interests and efforts with the long-term interests of the 
Company’s shareholders.

Under the GEL Schemes, (a) full-time employees of the Company and its related Group companies; 
(b) Executive-Directors of the Company and its related Group companies; and (c) Non-executive 
Directors (including Independent Directors) of the Company and its related Group companies are 
eligible to participate in the GEL Schemes.
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5. SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)

The number of shares to be offered to a grantee in accordance with the GEL Schemes shall be 
determined at the absolute discretion of the GSS Energy Limited Executives’ Share Option Scheme 
Committee (“Committee”) comprising four directors namely Mr Anthony Kuek (Chairman), 
Mr Sanford Chee (member), Mr Glenn Fung (member) and Mr Sydney Yeung (member), which shall 
take into account criteria such as the rank and responsibilities, performance, years of service and 
the potential contributions of the grantee. The Committee shall exercise its discretion judiciously 
in deciding the number of shares under the GEL Schemes to grant to each grantee.

No share options have been exercised and no ordinary shares of the Company have been issued 
as at the date of this statement.

The aggregate number of shares in respect of which the Company may grant options, when added 
to the number of shares issued and issuable in respect of (i) all options granted under the GEL 
Schemes, and (ii) all options granted under any other incentive schemes or share plans, shall not 
exceed 15% of the total issued share capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares) on the 
day immediately preceding the grant date. This rule may be amended by the Committee from 
time to time, but only after all required approvals have been obtained from the Board of Directors 
and the shareholders of the Company.

The exercise price for each share in respect of which an option is exercisable shall be fixed by the 
Committee at a price deemed by the Committee to accurately reflect the fair market value per 
share on the offering date.

During the financial year, the Company granted a total of 27,223,000 options to subscribe for 
ordinary shares of the Company at exercise price of $0.12512 per share. Letters of Offer for grant of 
options to selected employees were issues on 23 February 2018 (“grant date”). The vesting period 
for the options is 24 months from the grant date. The GEL Schemes will be in force for a period 
ranged from 3 years to 5 years from the grant date.

(a) Options granted to Directors of the Company under the Share Option Scheme are as follows:

Aggregate
options

outstanding 
at

1 January
2018

Options
granted
during
2018

Aggregate 
options 

granted since 
commencement  
of the Scheme 

or date of 
appointment,  

if later, to  
31 December  

2018

Aggregate 
options

exercised since
commencement
of the Scheme

or date of
appointment,

if later, to
31 December

2018

Aggregate 
options

lapsed since
commencement
of the Scheme

or date of
appointment,

if later, to
31 December

2018

Aggregate
options

outstanding at
31 December

2018
Name ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000       
Yeung Kin Bond, 

Sydney 7,400 – 7,400 – – 7,400
Suyulianto 

Badung 
Tariono 35,600 9,000 44,600 – – 44,600

Ng Say Tiong 2,000 11,000 13,000 – – 13,000
Chee Sanford 700 450 1,150 – – 1,150
Kuek Eng Chye, 

Anthony 700 700 1,400 – – 1,400
Fung Kau Lee, 

Glenn – 700 700 700
      

46,400 21,850 68,250 – – 68,250
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5. SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b) The options granted to the controlling shareholder, Yeong Kin Bond, Sydney, are as described 
in paragraph (a) above. There were no options granted to associates of the controlling 
shareholder during the financial year

(c) During the financial year, no employee has received 5% or more of the total number of 
options available under the GEL Schemes.

(d) 4,450,000 of the options have been granted to directors of subsidiaries and 1,723,000 of the 
options has been granted to employees of subsidiaries.

(e) 27,223,000 (2017: 37,200,000) options were granted at a 20% (2017:20%) discount to market 
price during the financial year.

(f) Under the GEL Share Option Schemes, share options granted, exercised and lapsed during 
the financial year and outstanding as at 31 December 2018 were as follows:

Date granted
At date  
of grant Lapsed Exercised

Balance at
31 December 

2018
Exercise 

price
Exercise 
period

‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 $
      

27 February 2017 10,000 – – 10,000 0.12320 27 Feb 2018 to 
26 Feb 2022

27 February 2017 28,400 – – 28,400 0.09856 27 Feb 2019 to 
26 Feb 2022

27 February 2017 1,400 – – 1,400 0.09856 27 Feb 2019 to 
26 Feb 2020

24 April 2017 7,400 – – 7,400 0.09856 25 Apr 2018 to 
26 Feb 2022

23 February 2018 1,150 – – 1,150 0.12512 23 Feb 2020 to 
22 Feb 2021

23 February 2018 26,073 1,000 – 25,073 0.12512 23 Feb 2020 to 
22 Feb 2023

74,423 1,000 – 73,423
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6. AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee (“AC”) is currently chaired by Mr Chee Sanford (Independent Director) and 
includes Mr Kuek Eng Chye, Anthony (an Independent Director) and Mr Fung Kau Lee, Glenn 
(Non-Independent Director) as members.

The AC convened four meetings during the financial year under review, attended by the members 
of the AC and relevant management staff. The AC also meets with the external and internal auditor 
without the presence of the Company’s management, at least once a year.

The AC carries out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Act and the Code of 
Corporate Governance, including the following:

(i) Reviews the audit plans and results of the Company’s external audits;

(ii) Reviews the Group’s financial and operating results and accounting policies;

(iii) Reviews statements of financial position and changes in equity of the Company and the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group before their submission to the Directors of 
the Company and the external auditor’s report on those financial statements;

(iv) Reviews the quarterly and full-year results announcements on the results of the Group and 
financial position of the Company and of the Group;

(v) Ensures that co-operation and assistance is given by the management to external auditor;

(vi) Makes recommendations to the Board of Directors on the appointment of external auditor; 
and

(vii) Reviews the Interested Person Transactions as defined in Chapter 9 of the Rules of Catalist of 
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) as is required by SGX-ST and 
ensures that the transactions were on normal commercial terms and not prejudicial to the 
interests of the members of the Company.

The AC has full access to and co-operation of the management and has been given the resources 
required for it to discharge its function properly. It also has full discretion to invite any Director and 
executive officer to attend its meetings. The external auditor has unrestricted access to the AC.

The AC has reviewed all non-audit services provided by the external auditor to the Group and 
is satisfied that the nature and extent of such services would not affect the independence and 
objectivity of the external auditor. There was no non-audit fee paid to the Company’s external 
auditors for the financial year ended 31 December 2018.

The AC has recommended to the Board of Directors the nomination of BDO LLP, for re-appointment 
as external auditor of the Company at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Based on the internal and financial controls established and maintained by the Group and the 
reviews performed by the management and the external auditor’s review of the accounting internal 
controls, the AC and the Board are of the opinion that the Group’s internal controls addressing 
financial, operational and compliance risks, are adequate as at 31 December 2018.
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7. INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The independent auditor, BDO LLP, has expressed its willingness to accept re-appointment.

8. ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS OF THE LISTING MANUAL OF THE SINGAPORE EXCHANGE 
SECURITIES TRADING LIMITED

The auditors of the subsidiaries of the Company are disclosed in Note 18 to the financial statements. 
In the opinion of the Board of Directors and AC, Rule 712 and Rule 715 of the Listing Manual 
Section B: Rules of Catalist of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited have been 
complied with.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Yeung Kin Bond, Sydney Ng Say Tiong
Director Director

Singapore
28 March 2019
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TO THE MEMBERS OF GSS ENERGY LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of 
GSS Energy Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (the “Group”) as set out on page 46 
to 126 which comprise:

  the consolidated statement of financial position 
of the Group and the statement of financial 
position of the Company as at 31 December 
2018; 

  the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, consolidated statement of changes 
in equity, and consolidated statement of cash 
flows of the Group and statement of changes 
in equity of the Company for the year then 
ended; and 

  notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements of the Group and the 
statement of financial position and the statement 
of changes in equity of the Company are properly 
drawn up in accordance with the provisions 
of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”) 
and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
(International) (“SFRS(I)s”) so as to give a true 
and fair view of the consolidated financial position 
of the Group and the financial position of the 
Company as at 31 December 2018, and of its 
consolidated financial performance, consolidated 
changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of 
the Group and changes in equity for the Company 
for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with 
the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics 
for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance 
in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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1 Accounting for Exploration and Evaluation Assets

Key Audit Matter
As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s exploration and evaluation assets comprise investment in West 
Jambi with cost amounting to $2,999,000 and exploration project in Trembul with cost amounting to 
$12,973,000.

During the financial year, the Group provided impairment loss of $2,999,000 for the investment in West 
Jambi subsequent to an impairment assessment.

We focused on this area as a key audit matter as significant management judgement is involved in 
determining (a) the appropriateness of costs capitalised as “Exploration and Evaluation Assets” in 
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy and (b) the related impairment assessment for such 
assets, including whether the activities have reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment 
of the existence of oil reserves.

Related Disclosures
Refer to Notes 2.13, 3 and 17 of the accompanying financial statements.

Audit Response
We performed the following procedures, amongst others: 

  Checked that the costs capitalised as “Exploration and Evaluation Assets” are in accordance with 
the Group’s accounting policy, on a sample basis; 

  Examined the relevant exploration permits in the area of interest, the financing arrangement and the 
future plans for these oil and gas exploration and evaluation projects and other relevant supporting 
documents to evaluate management’s impairment assessment; and

	Assessed the adequacy of the relevant disclosures made by management in the financial 
statements.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF GSS ENERGY LIMITED

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act and SFRS(I)s, and for devising and maintaining a system of 
internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded 
against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that 
they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to 
maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control. 

  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date 
of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued)

   Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

	Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so 
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and 
by those subsidiary corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been 
properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Ng Kian Hui. 

BDO LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants

Singapore
28 March 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Note 2018 2017
$’000 $’000

  

Revenue 4 100,832 94,327
Cost of sales (80,168) (75,226)

 

Gross profit 20,664 19,101
Other items of income

Other income 5 911 3,439
Interest income 6 203 198

Other items of expense
Distribution and selling expenses (8,693) (7,708)
Administrative expenses (7,075) (7,047)
Other expenses 8 (2,999) (1,969)
Finance costs 9 (136) (21)

 

Profit before income tax 10 2,875 5,993
Income tax expense 11 (748) (1,779)

 

Profit for the financial year 2,127 4,214
 

Other comprehensive income:
Item that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Remeasurement of defined benefit pension scheme 30 (156) (189)
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange differences arising from translation of foreign operations (274) (38)

 

Other comprehensive income for the financial year, net of tax 12 (430) (227)
 

Total comprehensive income for the financial year 1,697 3,987
 

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the parent 2,311 4,355
Non-controlling interests (184) (141)

 

2,127 4,214
 

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the parent 1,891 4,119
Non-controlling interests (194) (132)

  

1,697 3,987
  

Earnings per share (cents)
Basic 13 0.47 0.88
Diluted 13 0.46 0.87

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Group Company
Note 31 December 1 January 31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017 2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

      

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and 

equipment 14 11,819 10,179 6,370 – – –
Intangible assets 15 48 71 9 – – –
Land use rights 16 1,455 1,560 1,749 – – –
Exploration and evaluation 

assets 17 12,973 12,444 4,057 – – –
Investment in subsidiaries 18 – – – 28,683 28,683 28,603
Investment in joint 

arrangements 19 – – 40 – – 40
Goodwill 20 112 112 112 – – –
Due from subsidiaries 21 – – – 15,311 13,351 5,588

  

26,407 24,366 12,337 43,994 42,034 34,231
  

Current assets
Inventories 22 11,829 10,003 6,490 – – –
Trade receivables 23 24,356 24,763 18,908 – – –
Other receivables and 

deposits 24 3,623 1,903 756 – 3 –
Prepayments 192 174 129 13 10 9
Due from a subsidiary 21 – – – 109 – –
Short-term investments 25 2,819 7,381 3,337 – – –
Pledged deposits 26 1,596 1,659 594 – – –
Cash and bank balances 26 6,111 4,719 14,942 91 11 527

  

50,526 50,602 45,156 213 24 536
  

Total assets 76,933 74,968 57,493 44,207 42,058 34,767
  

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade payables 27 16,170 16,162 11,807 – – –
Other payables and 

accruals 28 7,341 9,013 4,409 413 312 363
Due to a subsidiary 21 – – – 19,403 12,753 3,829
Current income tax payable 402 2,348 1,946 – – –
Loan and borrowings 29 5,033 2,897 93 – – –

  

28,946 30,420 18,255 19,816 13,065 4,192
  

Net current assets/
(liabilities) 21,580 20,182 26,901 (19,603) (13,041) (3,656)

  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

Group Company
Note 31 December 1 January 31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017 2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

      

Non-current liabilities
Loan and borrowings 29 – – 21 – – –
Retirement benefit 

obligations 30 1,530 1,414 1,326 – – –
  

1,530 1,414 1,347 – – –
  

Total liabilities 30,476 31,834 19,602 19,816 13,065 4,192
  

Net assets 46,457 43,134 37,891 24,391 28,993 30,575
  

Equity attributable to 
owners of the parent

Share capital 31 58,522 58,522 58,522 58,522 58,522 58,522
Accumulated losses (15,497) (17,502) (21,535) (36,878) (30,650) (27,947)
Other reserves 32 3,843 2,196 989 2,747 1,121 –

  

46,868 43,216 37,976 24,391 28,993 30,575
Non-controlling interests (411) (82) (85) – – –

  

Total equity 46,457 43,134 37,891 24,391 28,993 30,575
  

Total equity and liabilities 76,933 74,968 57,493 44,207 42,058 34,767
  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Share capital
Accumulated 

losses
Share options 

reserve Total equity
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

    

Company
Contribution by owners
Balance at 1 January 2018 58,522 (30,650) 1,121 28,993
Loss for the financial year, representing 

total comprehensive income for 
financial year – (6,228) – (6,228)

Share option expenses – – 1,626 1,626
    

Balance at 31 December 2018 58,522 (36,878) 2,747 24,391
    

Contribution by owners
Balance at 1 January 2017 58,522 (27,947) – 30,575
Loss for the financial year, representing 

total comprehensive income for 
financial year – (2,703) – (2,703)

Share option expenses – – 1,121 1,121

Balance at 31 December 2017 58,522 (30,650) 1,121 28,993
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Note 2018 2017
$’000 $’000

  

Operating activities
Profit before income tax 2,875 5,993
Adjustments for:
Allowance for inventory obsolescence written back 22 (4) (82)
Amortisation of intangible assets 15 23 7
Amortisation of land use rights 16 56 159
Compensation for acquisition of land and building by government 5 – (3,128)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 14 1,880 1,473
Finance costs 9 136 21
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (3) –
Impairment allowances for exploration and evaluation assets 17 2,999 –
Interest income 6 (203) (198)
Unrealised exchange difference (40) (879)
Share option expenses 32 1,626 1,121

 

Operating profit before working capital changes 9,345 4,487
Working capital changes:
Inventories (1,864) (3,487)
Trade receivables 495 (5,990)
Other receivables and deposits (439) (1,147)
Prepayments (18) (56)
Trade payables (220) 5,007
Other payables and accruals (1,438) 5,441
Provisions settled 116 39

 

Cash generated from operations 5,977 4,294
Interest received 203 198
Interest paid (136) (21)
Tax refund 46 –
Income taxes paid (2,730) (1,444)

 

Net cash generated from operating activities 3,360 3,027
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note 2018 2017
$’000 $’000

  

Investing activities
Addition to short-term investments (960) (4,091)
Compensation for acquisition of land and building by government 5 – 3,128
Deposit paid to acquire property, plant and equipment (1,340) –
Net cash from acquisition of a joint venture 19 – 40
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 3 –
Proceed from short-term investments 5,413 –
Purchase of exploration and evaluation assets 17 (3,245) (9,006)
Purchase of intangible assets 15 – (69)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 14 (3,958) (5,287)

 

Net cash used in investing activities (4,087) (15,285)
 

Financing activities
Capital contribution from a non-controlling interest
of a subsidiary 18 – 135
Proceeds from bank loans 21,487 2,953
Repayment of bank loans (19,259) (145)
Repayment of obligations under finance leases (49) (47)
Short-term deposits pledged 26 68 (1,072)

 

Net cash generated from financing activities 2,247 1,824
 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 1,520 (10,434)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes in cash and  

cash equivalents (128) 211
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 26 4,719 14,942

 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 26 6,111 4,719
 

Note A: Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

1 January 
2018 Cash flows

Foreign 
exchange 
differences

31 December 
2018

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
    

Bank borrowings 2,848 2,228 (43) 5,033
Finance lease payables 49 (49) – –

    

2,897 2,179 (43) 5,033
    

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Note A: Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities (Continued)

1 January 
2017 Cash flows

Additions of 
property, plant 
and equipment 
under finance 

leases

Foreign 
exchange 
differences

31 December 
2017

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
     

Bank borrowings 50 2,808 – (10) 2,848
Finance lease payables 64 (47) 33 (1) 49

114 2,761 33 (11) 2,897
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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1. GENERAL CORPORATE INFORMATION

GSS Energy Limited (the “Company” or “GSS”) is a public company limited by shares incorporated 
and domiciled in Singapore. The Company is listed since 12 February 2015 on the Catalist board of 
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”). The Company’s registration number 
is 201432529C. Its registered office is at 50 Raffles Place, #32-01 Singapore Land Tower, Singapore 
048623 and its principal place of business is at Blk 4012 Ang Mo Kio Ave 10 #05-01 Techplace 1, 
Singapore 569628.

The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding. The principal activities of the 
subsidiaries and joint arrangements are disclosed in Note 18 and Note 19, respectively, to the 
financial statements.

The ultimate controlling party is Yeung Kin Bond, Sydney. Related companies in these financial 
statements refer to members of the GSS Energy Limited group.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements have been drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the 
Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
(International) (“SFRS(I)”) including related Interpretations of SFRS(I) (“SFRS(I) INT”) and 
are prepared under the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting 
policies below.

These financial statements are the Group and the Company’s first financial statements 
prepared in accordance with SFRS(I). The Group and the Company have previously prepared 
its financial statements in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore 
(“FRS”). As required by SFRS(I) 1 First-time adoption of Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards (International), the Group and the Company have consistently applied the same 
accounting policies in its opening statement of financial position at 1 January 2017 and 
throughout all financial years presented, as if these policies had always been in effect subject 
to the mandatory exceptions and optional exemptions under SFRS(I) 1 as disclosed below. 
The adoption of SFRS(I) 1 does not result in any substantial changes on the accounting 
policies in the previous financial years. The adoption of SFRS(I) has no material effect on the 
amount reported for the current or prior years.

Optional exemptions applied

Short-term exemption on adoption of SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments

The Group has elected to apply the short-term exemptions upon adoption of SFRS(I) 9 
on 1 January 2018. As a result, the financial instruments included in the comparatives 
have been accounted for in accordance with FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement. The Group is also exempted from complying with SFRS(I) 7 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosure on the disclosure requirements in relation to SFRS(I) 9.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements (Continued)

The individual financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured and presented 
in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its 
functional currency). The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement 
of financial position and the statement of changes in equity of the Company are presented in 
Singapore dollar (“$”), which is the functional currency of the Company and the presentation 
currency for the consolidated financial statements and all values presented are rounded to 
the nearest thousand (“$’000”) as indicated.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with SFRS(I) requires management 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the Group’s application of 
accounting policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. 
Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and 
actions, actual results may differ from those estimates. The areas where such judgements or 
estimates have the most significant effect on the financial statements are disclosed in Note 
3 to the financial statements.

FRS and INT FRS issued but not yet effective

As at the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Group and the Company 
have not adopted the following SFRS(I) and SFRS(I) INT that have been issued but are not 
yet effective:

Effective date (annual 
periods beginning 

on or after)

SFRS(I) 9 (Amendments) : Prepayment Features with 
Negative Compensation

1 January 2019

SFRS(I) 1-28 (Amendments) : Long-term Interests in 
Associates and Joint Ventures

1 January 2019

SFRS(I) 1-19 (Amendments) : Plan Amendment, Curtailment 
or Settlement

1 January 2019

SFRS(I) 10 and SFRS(I) 1-28 
(Amendments)

: Sale or Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture

To be determined

SFRS(I) 16 : Leases 1 January 2019
SFRS(I) 17 : Insurance contracts 1 January 2021
Improvements to FRSs (March 2018) 1 January 2019
– SFRS(I) 3 (Amendments) : Business Combinations
– SFRS(I) 11 (Amendments) : Joint Arrangements
– SFRS(I) 1-12 (Amendments) : Income Taxes
– SFRS(I) 1-23 (Amendments) : Borrowing Costs
SFRS(I) INT 23 : Uncertainty over Income Tax 

Treatments
1 January 2019

Consequential amendments were also made to various standards as a result of these new 
or revised standards.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements (Continued)

Except as disclosed below, the Group and the Company expect that the adoption of the 
above FRS in future periods, if applicable, will have no material impact on the financial 
statements of the Group and the Company in the period of initial adoption.

SFRS(I) 16 Leases

SFRS(I) 16 supersedes SFRS(I) 1-17 Leases and introduces a new single lessee accounting 
model which eliminates the current distinction between operating and finance leases for 
lessees. FRS 116 requires lessees to capitalise all leases on the statement of financial position 
by recognising a ‘right-of-use’ asset and a corresponding lease liability for the present value 
of the obligation to make lease payments, except for certain short-term leases and leases of 
low-value assets. Subsequently, the lease assets will be depreciated and the lease liabilities 
will be measured at amortised cost.

From the perspective of a lessor, the classification and accounting for operating and finance 
leases remains substantially unchanged under SFRS(I) 16. SFRS(I) 16 also requires enhanced 
disclosures by both lessees and lessors.

The Group has performed an assessment on the adoption of SFRS(I) 16 based on currently 
available information as well as recognition exemptions under SFRS(I) 16. The Group expects 
to capitalise its operating leases on office premises and other operating facilities on the 
statement of financial position by recognising a ‘right-of-use’ assets of $1,800,000 and their 
corresponding lease liabilities for the present value of future lease payments of $1,800,000. 
This assessment may be subject to changes from the ongoing analysis until the finalisation 
of transition entries.

The Group plans to adopt the standard in the financial year beginning on 1 January 2019 
using the modified retrospective method in accordance with the transitional provisions, and 
therefore will only recognise leases on statement of financial position as at 1 January 2019. 
The Group will include the required additional disclosures in its financial statements for the 
financial year ending 31 December 2019.

2.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company 
and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The Group 
controls an investee if the Group has power over the investee, exposure to variable returns 
from the investee, and the ability to use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is 
reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any 
of these elements of control.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group up 
to the effective date on which control ceases, as appropriate.

Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised income and expenses arising 
from intra-group transactions are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised losses may be an 
impairment indicator of the asset concerned.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as 
that of the Company, using consistent accounting policies. Where necessary, accounting 
policies of subsidiaries are changed to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by other 
members of the Group.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries relate to the equity in subsidiaries which is not 
attributable directly or indirectly to the owners of the parent. They are shown separately in the 
consolidated statements of comprehensive income, financial position and changes in equity.

Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are a present ownership interest and entitle 
its holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may 
be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate 
share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement 
basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying 
amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus 
the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive 
income is attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling 
interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are 
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the 
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the 
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are 
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in 
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as 
the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received 
and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the 
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. 
Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary 
are accounted for (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings) 
in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of. 
The fair value of any investments retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control 
is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under 
FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost 
on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the separate financial statements of the Company, investments in subsidiaries, joint venture 
and non-current amount due from subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment loss 
that has been recognised in profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Business combinations

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of 
the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of 
assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in 
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or 
loss as incurred. Consideration also includes the fair value of any contingent consideration. 
Contingent consideration classified as a financial liability is remeasured subsequently to fair 
value through profit or loss.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions 
for recognition under SFRS(I) 3 are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests 
in the acquired entity are remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date 
the Group attains control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or 
loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have 
previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, 
where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset at the acquisition date and initially 
measured at cost, being the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount 
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer previously 
held equity interest (if any) in the entity over net acquisition-date fair value amounts of the 
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.

If, after reassessment, the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds 
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree 
(if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

2.4 Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when a performance obligation is satisfied. Revenue is measured 
based on consideration of which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring 
promised good or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third 
parties (i.e. sales related taxes). The consideration promised in the contracts with customers 
may include fixed amounts, variable amounts or both.

Sale of mechanism and microshaft products

The Group is involved in the supply of mechanism, microshaft and other related precision 
engineering products. The revenue is recognised at a point in time when control of the 
goods is transferred to the customers. This is generally when the goods are delivered to the 
customers. For overseas sales, control might also be transferred when delivered either to the 
port of departure or port of arrival, depending on the specific terms of the contract. Revenue 
is measured at transaction price agreed under contract with credit term of 30 to 95 days.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Rendering of services – Product assembly

The product assembly services involved assembling of parts and material, packaging and 
labelling. There is only one distinct performance obligation identified under the contracts with 
customers which is to provide assembly services to the customers. Revenue is recognised at 
a point in time when the significant acts have been completed and when transfer of control 
occurs.

The revenue is measured at the transaction price agreed under the contract with a credit 
term of 30 to 90 days.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and 
at the effective interest rate applicable.

Rental income

Rental income under operating lease (net of any incentive given to lessees) is recognised 
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Compensation for acquisition of land and building by government

Compensation from government for items of property, plant and equipment that were 
impaired, lost or given up is included in profit or loss when the compensation becomes 
unconditionally receivable.

2.5 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred using 
the effective interest method.

2.6 Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as expenses as 
they fall due. Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit schemes, such as the 
Singapore Central Provident Fund, are dealt with as payments to defined contribution plans 
where the Group’s obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defined 
contribution retirement benefit plan.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they accrue to 
employees. The estimated liability for annual leave is recognised for services rendered by 
employees up to the end of the financial year.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6 Employee benefits (Continued)

Retirement gratuity

Retirement benefits payable to certain categories of employees upon their retirement are 
provided for in the financial statements based on their entitlement under the staff benefit 
plan.

The Group’s net obligation in respect of retirement benefits is the amount of future benefits 
that employees have earned in return for their service in current and prior periods. The 
obligation is calculated using projected salary increases and is discounted to its present 
value, and the fair value of any related assets is deducted.

Employee service entitlement benefits

Defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive 
on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and 
compensation.

Defined benefit plan surpluses and deficits are measured at:

– The fair value of plan assets at the reporting date; less

– Plan liabilities calculated using the projected unit credit method discounted to its 
present value using yields available on government bonds that have maturity dates 
approximating to the terms of the liabilities.

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit obligation are recognised directly within equity. 
The remeasurements include:

– Actuarial gains and losses

– Return on plan assets (interest exclusive)

Service costs are recognised in profit or loss, and include current and past service costs as 
well as gains and losses on curtailments.

Net interest expense (income) is recognised in profit or loss, and is calculated by applying 
the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation (asset) at the beginning of 
the annual period to the balance of the net defined benefit obligation (asset), considering 
the effects of contributions and benefit payments during the year.

Gains or losses arising from changes to plan benefits or plan curtailment are recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

Settlements of defined benefit plan are recognised in the period in which the settlement 
occurs.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.7 Equity-settled share-based payment

The Group operates GSS Energy Limited Executives’ Share Option Scheme which allows it 
to issue equity-settled share-based payments to selected key management personnel and 
employees of the Group. For equity-settled share-based payment, the fair value of the services 
received is recognised as an employee expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, 
over the vesting period during which the executives become unconditionally entitled to the 
equity instrument. The fair value of the services is determined by reference to the fair value 
of the equity instrument granted at the grant date.

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date 
reflects the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. 
The expense or credit in the statement of profit or loss for the financial year represents the 
movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that financial 
year.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining 
the grant date fair value of equity instrument, but the likelihood of the conditions being met 
is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will 
ultimately vest.

2.8 Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current income tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period. Taxable profit differs from 
profit reported as profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are 
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are not taxable or tax 
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is recognised at the amount expected to be 
paid or recovered from the tax authorities and is calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted in countries where the Company and its 
subsidiaries operate by the end of the financial year.

Current income taxes are recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that the tax relates 
to items recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on all temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and 
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will 
be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets 
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the 
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a 
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8 Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised on taxable temporary differences arising on investments 
in subsidiaries and interests in joint arrangements, except where the Group is able to control 
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each financial year 
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the 
liability is settled or the asset realised based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the financial year.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the 
manner in which the Group expects to recover or settle its assets and liabilities.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each financial year and 
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set 
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes 
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets 
and liabilities on a net basis.

Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised outside 
profit or loss, in which case the tax is also recognised either in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity, or where it arises from the initial accounting for a business combination. 
Deferred tax arising from a business combination, is taken into account in calculating 
goodwill on acquisition.

Sales tax

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

• when the sales tax that is incurred on purchase of assets or services is not recoverable 
from the tax authorities, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

• Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included 
as part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.
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2.9 Foreign currency transactions and translation

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies 
other than the entity’s functional currency (“foreign currency”) are recorded at the rates 
of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. At the end of each financial year, 
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing 
as of the end of the financial year. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are 
denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing on the date when 
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are not re-translated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlements of monetary items and on re-translation of 
monetary items are included in profit or loss for the financial year. Exchange differences 
arising on the re-translation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in 
profit or loss for the financial year except for differences arising on the re-translation of 
non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in equity. For 
such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised 
directly in equity.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of 
the Group’s foreign operations (including comparatives) are expressed in Singapore dollar 
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the financial year. Income and expense items 
(including comparatives) are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless 
exchange rates fluctuated significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates 
at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified 
as equity and transferred to the Group’s foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in 
foreign entities (including monetary items that, in substance, form part of the net investment 
in foreign entities), are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the accumulated foreign exchange reserve relating to 
that operation is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are 
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

2.10 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment loss, if any.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase price and any costs directly 
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable 
of operating in the manner intended by management. Dismantlement, removal or restoration 
costs are included as part of the cost of property, plant and equipment if the obligation for 
dismantlement, removal or restoration is incurred as a consequence of acquiring or using 
the property, plant and equipment.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.10 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Subsequent expenditure relating to the property, plant and equipment that has already 
been recognised is added to the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that the 
future economic benefits, in excess of the standard of performance of the asset before the 
expenditure was made, will flow to the Group, and the cost can be reliably measured. Other 
subsequent expenditure is recognised as an expense during the financial year in which it 
is incurred.

The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment 
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the depreciable amounts 
of the property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold buildings 20 years
Leasehold improvements 10 years
Machinery, furniture and equipment 3 to 6 years
Motor vehicles 4 years

Construction-in-progress, which represents direct cost incurred for construction of factory 
and office premises. No depreciation is charged on construction-in-progress as they are not 
yet in use.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the 
same basis as owned assets or, where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

The residual values, estimated useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period to ensure that the residual values, period of depreciation 
and depreciation method are consistent with previous estimates and expected pattern of 
consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and 
equipment.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.

Fully depreciated plant and equipment are retained in the financial statements until they 
are no longer in use.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11 Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary represents the excess of the consideration 
transferred (see Note 2.3), the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and 
the acquisition date fair value of any previously held equity interest in the acquiree over the 
acquisition date fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the 
subsidiary recognised at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries prior 
to 1 January 2010 represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the 
Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired.

Goodwill of subsidiaries is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently 
measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating 
units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more 
frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the 
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to 
the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount 
of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a 
subsequent period.

On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the 
determination of the gain or loss on disposal.

Computer software

Acquired computer software are initially capitalised at cost which includes the purchase 
price (net of any discounts and rebates) and other directly attributable costs of preparing the 
software for its intended use. Direct expenditure which enhances or extends the performance 
of computer software beyond its specifications and which can be reliably measured is added 
to the original cost of the software. Costs associated with maintaining computer software 
are recognised as an expense as incurred.

Computer software are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses. These costs are amortised to profit or loss using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives of 3 years.

2.12 Land use rights

Land use rights are initially recognised at cost. Following initial recognition, land use rights 
are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment loss. 
Land use rights are amortised over a lease term of 50 years.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.13 Exploration, evaluation and development assets (“EE&D”)

Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation activity involves the search for oil and gas resources, the 
determination of technical feasibility and the assessment of the commercial viability of an 
identified resource. Costs incurred before the Group has obtained the legal rights to explore 
an area are recognised in profit or loss. Exploration and evaluation costs are capitalised in 
respect of each area of interest for which the rights to tenure are current and where:

(i) the exploration and evaluation costs are expected to be recouped through successful 
development and exploitation of the area of interest; or alternatively, by its sale; or

(ii) exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not reached a stage 
which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically 
recoverable reserves, and active and significant operations in, or in relation to, the 
areas of interest are continuing.

Exploration and evaluation assets comprise costs that are directly attributable to: researching 
and analysing existing exploration data, gathering exploration data through topographical, 
geochemical and geophysical studies, exploratory drilling, trenching and sampling, 
determining and examining the volume and grade of the resource, examining and testing 
extraction and treatment methods, surveying transportation and infrastructure requirements, 
compiling pre-feasibility and feasibility studies and/or gaining access to areas of interest 
including occupancy and relocation compensation.

General and administrative costs are allocated to, and included in, the cost of exploration 
and evaluation assets only to the extent that those costs can be related directly to operational 
activities in the area of interest to which the exploration and evaluation asset relates. In all 
other cases, these costs are expensed as incurred.

Exploration and evaluation assets are transferred to development assets or oil and gas 
properties, when the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the resource 
are demonstrable and sanctioned by management.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances 
suggest that the carrying amount of an exploration and evaluation asset may exceed its 
recoverable amount. If no potentially commercial oil and gas reserves are discovered, the 
exploration asset is written off as dry hole in profit or loss. If extractable oil and gas reserves 
are found and, subject to further appraisal activity (e.g., the drilling of additional wells), are 
likely to be capable of being commercially developed, the costs continue to be carried as 
an exploration and evaluation asset while sufficient/continued progress is made in assessing 
the commerciality of the oil and gas reserves.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.13 Exploration, evaluation and development assets (“EE&D”) (Continued)

Development assets

Development assets are incurred within an area of interest as a component of a commercial 
development phase only upon commitment to a commercial development.

Expenditure on the construction, installation or completion of infrastructure facilities such 
as platforms, pipelines and the drilling of development wells, including unsuccessful 
development on delineation wells, is capitalised within Development assets.

Depletion is not charged on costs carried in respect of areas of interest in the development 
phase until production commences. When production commences, carried forward 
development expenditure are transferred to oil and gas properties (Note 2.14).

Development assets are reviewed for impairment in accordance with the Group’s accounting 
policy on impairment of non-financial assets as set out in Note 2.16 to these financial 
statements.

2.14 Oil and gas properties

Oil and gas properties are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, oil and 
gas properties are stated at cost less accumulated depletion and impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent expenditure relating to the asset that has already been recognised is added to 
the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that the future economic benefits, in 
excess of the standard of performance of the asset before the expenditure was made, will 
flow to the Group, and the cost can be reliably measured. Other subsequent expenditure is 
recognised as an expense during the financial year in which it is incurred.

Oil and gas properties are depleted on a unit-of-production method by reference to the ratio 
of production in the period and the related commercial reserve of the field.

2.15 Investment in joint arrangement

The Group is a party to a joint arrangement when there is a contractual arrangement that 
confers joint control over the relevant activities of the arrangement to the group and at 
least one other party. Joint control is assessed under the same principles as control over 
subsidiaries.

The Group classifies its interests in joint arrangements as either:

– Joint ventures : where the Group has rights to only the net assets of the joint arrangement

– Joint operations : where the Group has both the rights to assets and obligations for 
the liabilities of the joint arrangement.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.15 Investment in joint arrangement (Continued)

In assessing the classification of interests in joint arrangements, the Group considers:

– The structure of the joint arrangement

– The legal form of joint arrangements structured through a separate vehicle

– The contractual terms of the joint arrangement agreement

– Any other facts and circumstances (including any other contractual arrangements).

Joint operation

The Group recognises in relation to its interest in a joint operation:

(a) its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;

(b) its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;

(c) its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation;

(d) its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and

(e) its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

The accounting policies of the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to the 
Group’s interest in a joint operation have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Joint venture

The Group’s interest in joint venture is accounted for using the equity method. Under the 
equity method, the investment in joint venture is carried in the statements of financial position 
at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share in net assets of the joint venture. 
The share of results of the joint venture is recognised in profit or loss. After application of the 
equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise any additional 
impairment loss with respect to the Group’s net investment in the joint venture.

The Group’s share of results and reserves of joint venture acquired or disposed of are 
included in the financial statements from the date of acquisition up to the date of disposal 
or cessation of joint control over the relevant activities of the arrangements.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.16 Impairment of non-financial assets excluding goodwill and exploration and evaluation 
assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its 
non-financial assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have 
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment losses (if any). Where it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use 
are tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may 
be impaired.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less 
costs to sell and its value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than 
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to 
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset 
(cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but 
so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised immediately in profit or loss.

2.17 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the statements of financial position 
when the Group and the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument.

Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets into one category, at amortised cost, depending on 
the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets as well as the contractual terms 
of the cash flows of the financial asset. The Group shall reclassify its affected financial assets 
when and only when the Group changes its business model for managing these financial 
assets. The Group’s accounting policy for financial assets at amortised cost is as follows:

Amortised cost

These assets arise principally from the provision of goods and services to customers (e.g. 
trade receivables), but also incorporate other types of financial assets where the objective 
is to hold these assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual cash 
flows are solely payments of principal and interest. They are initially recognised at fair value 
plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition or issue, and are 
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less provision 
for impairment. Interest income from these financial assets is included in interest income 
using the effective interest rate method.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.17 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost (Continued)

Impairment provisions for trade receivables are recognised based on the simplified approach 
within SFRS(I) 9 using the provision matrix to determine the lifetime expected credit 
losses. For trade receivables, which are reported net, such provisions are recorded in a 
separate provision account with the loss being recognised within administrative expenses 
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. On confirmation that the trade 
receivables will not be collectable, the gross carrying value of the asset is written off against 
the associated provision.

Impairment provisions for other receivables, short-term investments, bank deposits and 
receivables from or loans to related parties are recognised based on a forward looking 
expected credit loss model. The methodology used to determine the amount of the 
provision is based on whether at each reporting date, there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial asset. For those where the credit risk 
has not increased significantly since initial recognition of the financial asset, twelve month 
expected credit losses along with gross interest income are recognised. For those for which 
credit risk has increased significantly, lifetime expected credit losses along with the gross 
interest income are recognised. For those that are determined to be credit impaired, lifetime 
expected credit losses along with interest income on a net basis are recognised.

From time to time, the Group elects to renegotiate the terms of trade receivables due from 
customers with which it has previously had a good trading history. Such renegotiations will 
lead to changes in the timing of payments rather than changes to the amounts owed and, in 
consequence, the new expected cash flows are discounted at the original effective interest 
rate and any resulting difference to the carrying value is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income (operating profit).

The Group’s financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise trade and other 
receivables, short-term investments, pledged deposits and cash and bank balances in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows 
from the asset expire, or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition, any difference between the carrying amount and the sum of proceeds 
received and amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised 
in profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.17 Financial instruments (Continued)

Accounting policy for financial assets prior to 1 January 2018

Financial assets are recognised on the statements of financial position when the Group 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets

All financial assets are recognised on a trade date where the purchase of a financial 
asset is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the financial asset within the 
timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, 
plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified as at fair value through 
profit or loss, which are initially measured at fair value.

The Group classifies its financial assets as loans and receivables. The classification depends 
on the nature and purpose of these financial assets and is determined at the time of initial 
recognition.

Loans and receivables

Non-derivatives financial assets (trade receivables, other receivables and deposits, amount 
due from subsidiaries, short-term investments and cash and bank balances that have fixed 
or determinable payments) that are not quoted in active market are classified as “loans and 
receivables”. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost, where applicable, 
using the effective interest method less impairment. Interest is recognised by applying the 
effective interest method, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest 
would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting 
period. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result 
of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the 
estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.17 Financial instruments (Continued)

Accounting policy for financial assets prior to 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amounts of all financial assets are reduced by the impairment losses directly 
with the exception of trade receivables where the carrying amounts are reduced through the 
use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account 
are recognised in profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, 
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent the 
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what 
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified according to 
the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial 
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the 
Group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs. The Group classified ordinary shares as equity instruments.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are 
measured at the fair value of the goods or services received, except where that fair value 
cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair value of the equity 
instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty 
renders the services.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (trade payables, other payables and accruals, due to subsidiaries 
and loan and borrowings) are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, where applicable, using the effective interest 
method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.17 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
 

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or they expired. On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference 
between the carrying amount and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.

2.18 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out method. Costs include all costs of purchase, cost 
of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location 
and condition. In the case of work-in-progress and manufactured products, costs include 
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of production overhead expenditure.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price at which the inventories can be realised in 
the normal course of business after allowing for the costs of realisation. Allowance is made 
for obsolete, slow moving and defective inventories.

2.19 Cash and bank balances

Cash and bank balances consist of cash on hand, cash and deposits with banks and 
financial institutions. Cash and bank balances are short-term highly liquid investments that 
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value. For the purposes of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash 
equivalents excludes pledged deposits.

2.20 Leases

When the Group is the lessee of a finance lease

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially 
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased assets to the lessee. All other 
leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at 
the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as 
a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and 
reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly to profit or loss in accordance 
with the Group’s accounting policy on finance costs.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.20 Leases (Continued)

When the Group is the lessee of an operating lease

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits received or receivable as an incentive to enter 
into an operating lease are also spread on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

When the Group is the lessor of an operating lease

Leases where the Group and the Company retain substantially all risks and rewards incidental 
to the ownership are classified as operating leases.

Assets leased out under operating leases are included in property, plant and equipment.

2.21 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided 
to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible 
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been 
identified as the group of executive directors and the chief executive officer who make 
strategic decisions.

2.22 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance 
that the grant will be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. Where 
the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is recognised as deferred capital grant on the 
statement of financial position and is amortised to profit or loss over the expected useful life 
of the relevant asset by equal annual instalment. Government grants relating to expenses 
are shown separately as other income.

2.23 Dividends

Equity dividends are recognised when they become legally payable. Interim dividends are 
recorded in the financial year in which they are declared payable. Final dividends are 
recorded in the financial year in which dividends are approved by shareholders.
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in 
Note 2 in the financial statements, the management made judgements, estimates and assumptions 
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that were not readily apparent from other 
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions were based on historical experience and other 
factors that were considered to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates.

These estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies, the management 
is of the opinion that there are no critical judgements involved that have a significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements except as discussed below.

(i) Exploration and evaluation assets

The Group’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation assets requires judgement 
to determine whether future economic benefits are likely, from either exploitation or sale in 
future, or whether activities have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment 
of the existence of reserves. The estimation process to determine the reserves and resources 
requires varying degrees of uncertainty depending on how the resources are classified. These 
estimates directly impact when the Group defers exploration and evaluation expenditure. The 
deferral policy requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions as to future 
events and circumstances, in particular, whether an economically viable extraction operation 
can be established. Any such estimates and assumptions may change as new information 
becomes available. If, after expenditure is capitalised, information becomes available 
suggesting that the recovery of the expenditure is unlikely, the relevant capitalised amount 
is written off in profit or loss in the period when the new information becomes available.

(ii) Consolidation of P.T. Sarana GSS Trembul (“PTSGT”)

The Group has exercised significant judgement to determine PTSGT as a subsidiary of the 
Group and consolidate 89% of its economic interest in the subsidiary even though the Group 
has only 49% current ownership interest. Information about the critical judgements made in 
reaching this conclusion have been disclosed in Note 18 to the financial statements.
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses 
within the next financial year are discussed below.

(i) Net realisable value of inventories

The management reviews the inventory aging analysis at the end of each reporting period, 
and writes down the value of the inventories to its net realisable value, where applicable. 
The management estimates the net realisable value for such inventories based primarily on 
the latest invoice prices and current market condition. The carrying amount of the Group’s 
inventories at the end of the financial year was $11,829,000 (31 December 2017: $10,003,000, 
1 January 2017: $6,490,000).

(ii) Defined benefit plan

The costs, assets and liabilities of the defined benefit plan operating by the Group are 
determined using methods relying on actuarial estimates and assumptions. Details of the 
key assumptions are set out in Note 30 to the financial statements. The Group takes advice 
from independent actuaries relating to the appropriateness of the assumptions. Changes 
in the assumptions used may have a significant effect on the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income and the consolidated statement of financial position. The carrying 
amounts of the Group’s defined benefit plan at the end of the financial year was $1,324,000 
(31 December 2017: $1,208,000, 1 January 2017: $1,120,000).

4. REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue

The Group has disaggregated revenue into various categorical in the following table which is 
intended to:

• depict how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are 
affected by economic date; and

• enable users to understand the relationship with revenue segment information provided in 
Note 35 to the financial statements.



78 ANNUAL REPORT 2018     GSS ENERGY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

4. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Segments Mechanisms Microshafts Total
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Primary geographical 
markets

Singapore 14,826 12,814 1,614 2,517 16,440 15,331
Indonesia 54,440 49,772 658 500 55,098 50,272
Germany – – 2,693 2,161 2,693 2,161
China 5,175 5,897 9,899 10,766 15,074 16,663
Thailand – – 2,028 1,912 2,028 1,912
Malaysia 772 606 1,309 1,419 2,081 2,025
Others 2,307 1,722 5,111 4,241 7,418 5,963

   

77,520 70,811 23,312 23,516 100,832 94,327
   

Type of good or services
Sale of goods 68,827 62,884 23,312 23,516 92,139 86,400
Services rendered 8,693 7,927 – – 8,693 7,927

   

77,520 70,811 23,312 23,516 100,832 94,327
   

Timing of transfer of 
goods and services

Point in time 77,520 70,811 23,312 23,516 100,832 94,327
 

5. OTHER INCOME

Group
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

  

Compensation for acquisition of land and building by 
government (Note 14) – 3,128

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 3 3
Government grants 483 85
Foreign exchange gain, net 203 –
Income from disposal of scrap materials 204 153
Rental income – 27
Others 18 43

 

911 3,439
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6. INTEREST INCOME

Group
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

  

Financial assets measured at amortised cost
– Cash and short-term deposits 39 83
– Short term investment 164 115

 

203 198
  

7. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

Group
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

  

Short-term employee benefits 20,311 20,703
Defined contribution plans 1,607 1,260
Defined benefit plan 207 210
Employee share options expenses 1,626 1,121
Other personnel expenses 1,261 1,572

 

25,012 24,866
  

The above includes remuneration of Directors and key management as disclosed in Note 33 to 
the financial statements.

The employee benefit expenses are recognised in the following line items in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income:

Group
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

  

Cost of sales 14,270 14,678
Distribution and selling expenses 5,859 5,775
Administrative expenses 4,883 4,413

 

25,012 24,866
  



80 ANNUAL REPORT 2018     GSS ENERGY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

8. OTHER EXPENSES

Group
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

  

Foreign exchange loss, net – 1,916
Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets (Note 17) 2,999 –
Others – 53

 

2,999 1,969
  

9. FINANCE COSTS

Group
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

  

Interest expense
– bank loans 133 10
– finance leases 3 11

 

136 21
 

10. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

In addition to the charges and credits disclosed elsewhere in the notes to the financial statements, 
the above includes the following charges:

Group
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

  

Cost of sales
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses 77,711 73,078
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,493 1,215
Amortisation of land use rights 56 159
Operating lease expenses 963 933
Professional fees 3 –

 

Distribution and selling expenses
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 37 35
Operating lease expenses 162 189
Professional fees 18 19

 

Administrative expenses
Amortisation of intangible assets 23 7
Audit fees
– Auditor of the Company 148 150
– Other auditors 58 58
Non-audit fees
– Auditor of the Company – –
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 350 223
Operating lease expenses 74 39
Professional fees 359 425

  



NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

81GSS ENERGY LIMITED     ANNUAL REPORT 2018  

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Major components of income tax expense for the financial year are:

Group
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

  

Current income tax
– current year 957 1,870
– overprovision in prior year (209) (91)

 

748 1,779
 

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Domestic income tax is calculated at 17% (2017: 17%) of the estimated assessable profit for the 
financial year. Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant 
jurisdictions.

The income tax expenses varied from the amount of income tax expense determined by applying 
the Singapore income tax rate of 17% to profit before income tax as a result of the following 
differences:

Group
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

  

Profit before income tax 2,875 5,993
 

Income tax at the applicable tax rate of 17% 488 1,019
Tax effect of:
– Income not taxable for income tax purposes (155) (310)
– Expenses not deductible for income tax purposes 208 736
Effect of different tax rates of overseas operations 259 520
Utilisation of deferred tax assets previously not recognised (17) (334)
Overprovision for income tax in prior year (209) (91)
Deferred tax assets not recognised in the current year 68 248
Foreign tax on dividend income 105 –
Others 1 (9)

 

748 1,779
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

Group
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

  

At beginning of financial year 534 690
Utilisation of deferred tax assets previously not recognised (17) (334)
Addition of unrecognised deferred tax assets 68 248
Overprovision of unrecognised deferred tax assets in prior year (235) (70)

 

At end of financial year 350 534
 

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are attributable to:

Group
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

  

Unabsorbed capital allowances on plant and equipment 27 33
Provisions 64 47
Unutilised tax losses 259 454

 

350 534
  

At the end of the financial year, the Group had unutilised tax losses of approximately $1,519,000 
(31 December 2017: $2,672,000, 1 January 2017: $3,638,000) which is available for set-off against 
future taxable profits. These deferred tax assets have not been recognised as there is no certainty 
that there will be sufficient future taxable profits to realise these future benefits. Accordingly, these 
deferred tax assets have not been recognised in the financial statements in accordance with the 
accounting policy in Note 2.8 to the financial statements.

The realisation of the future income tax benefits from unutilised tax loss and temporary differences 
from unabsorbed capital allowances is available for an unlimited future period and subject to the 
conditions imposed by law including the retention of majority shareholders as defined.

At the end of the financial year, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with 
undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised 
amounted to $1,176,000 (31 December 2017: $1,455,000, 1 January 2017: $884,000). No liability 
has been recognised in respect of these differences because the Group is in a position to control 
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that such differences will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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12. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR, NET OF TAX

Group
2018 2017

Before-tax 
amount

Tax 
expense

Net-of-tax 
amount

Before-tax 
amount

Tax 
expense

Net-of-tax 
amount

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
      

Remeasurement of 
defined benefit 
pension scheme (156) – (156) (189) – (189)

Exchange differences 
on translation of 
foreign operations (274) – (274) (38) – (38)

   

Other comprehensive 
income (430) – (430) (227) – (227)

    

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE (CENTS)

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net profit for the financial year attributable to 
the owners of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the 
financial year. For the calculation of diluted earnings per share, the profit for the year attributable to 
the owners of the parent and the weighted average number of ordinary shares are adjusted for the 
effects of dilutive potential ordinary shares assuming all options have been converted or exercised.

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity 
holders of the Company is based on the following data:

Group
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

  

Earnings
Profit attributable to owners of the parent 

(for the purpose of basic and diluted earning per share) 2,311 4,355
  

Number of 
shares

Number of 
shares

‘000 ‘000
  

Number of shares
Number of shares 496,159 496,159
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
– Basic 496,159 496,159

Basic earnings per share (cents) 0.47 0.88
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE (CENTS) (CONTINUED)

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the 
Company is based on the following data:

Group
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

  

Number of shares
Weighted average number of shares used in basis EPS 496,159 496,159
Effect of employee share options 11,446 6,977

 

Weighted average number of shares used in diluted EPS 507,605 503,136
 

Diluted earnings per share (cents) 0.46 0.87
  

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold 
buildings

Leasehold 
improvements

Machinery, 
furniture and 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles Total

Group $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
     

Cost
At 1 January 2018 4,833 6,248 40,361 736 52,178
Additions 12 97 3,849 – 3,958
Disposal – – – (52) (52)
Written off – (9) (326) – (335)
Currency realignment (335) (3) (313) (3) (654)

     

At 31 December 2018 4,510 6,333 43,571 681 55,095
     

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2018 242 4,540 36,612 605 41,999
Disposal – – – (52) (52)
Depreciation charge for  

the year 225 274 1,314 67 1,880
Written off – (9) (326) – (335)
Currency realignment (14) (1) (198) (3) (216)

     

At 31 December 2018 453 4,804 37,402 617 43,276
     

Net carrying amount
At 31 December 2018 4,057 1,529 6,169 64 11,819
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Leasehold 
buildings

Leasehold 
improvements

Machinery, 
furniture 

and 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Construction-  
in-progress Total

Group $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000      
Cost
At 1 January 2017 132 5,920 39,318 687 1,614 47,671
Additions 726 328 1,833 52 2,381 5,320
Disposal – – (81) – – (81)
Written off – – (586) – – (586)
Reclassification 3,964 – – – (3,964) –
Currency realignment 11 – (123) (3) (31) (146)

At 31 December 2017 4,833 6,248 40,361 736 – 52,178

Accumulated 
depreciation

At 1 January 2017 120 4,290 36,353 538 – 41,301
Depreciation charge 

for the year 124 250 1,030 69 – 1,473
Disposals – – (81) – – (81)
Written off – – (586) – – (586)
Currency realignment (2) – (104) (2) – (108)

At 31 December 2017 242 4,540 36,612 605 – 41,999

Net carrying amount
At 1 January 2017 12 1,630 2,965 149 1,614 6,370

At 31 December 2017 4,591 1,708 3,749 131 – 10,179
 

Assets held under finance lease

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has motor vehicles acquired under finance lease with net 
carrying amount of approximately $63,272 (31 December 2017: $102,000, 1 January 2017: $86,000).

Group
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

  

Addition of property, plant and equipment 3,958 5,320
Acquired under finance lease arrangement – (33)

 

Cash payments to purchase property, plant and equipment 3,958 5,287
  

In 2015, the Group had entered into an agreement with the Changzhou Government State 
Land Office (“CGSLO”), which CGSLO shall pay compensation to the Group of RMB43.68 million 
(equivalent to $9.55 million) for the acquisition of land and building which was previously occupied 
by the Group’s China subsidiary. The China subsidiary was allowed to stay in the location until the 
new location was ready for use. The relocation compensation received in 4 separate tranches and 
each tranche was subject to the fulfilment of certain terms and conditions.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Assets held under finance lease (Continued)

In 2017, the third and final tranche compensation received amounting to RMB15,300,000 (equivalent 
to $3,128,000) was recognised in the Group’s profit or loss and included in “other income” as 
disclosed in Note 5 to the financial statements. The China subsidiary had moved to the new location 
upon completion of the factory building in the previous financial year.

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Group
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

  

Computer software
Cost
At 1 January 246 177
Addition – 69
Currency realignment (1) –

 

At 31 December 245 246
 

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 175 168
Amortisation 23 7
Currency realignment (1) –

 

At 31 December 197 175
 

Carrying amount
At 31 December 48 71

  

The amortisation of intangible assets is included in “administrative expense” line item in profit or loss.

16. LAND USE RIGHTS

Group
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

  

Cost
At 1 January 1,691 2,927
Written off – (1,183)
Currency realignment (54) (53)

 

At 31 December 1,637 1,691
 

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 131 1,178
Amortisation 56 159
Written off – (1,183)
Currency realignment (5) (23)

 

At 31 December 182 131
 

Carrying amount
At 31 December 1,455 1,560
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16. LAND USE RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2018, the Group has land use rights over 1 plot (31 December 2017: 1 plot,  
1 January 2017: 2 plots) of state-owned land in China where the Group’s operations reside. The 
land use rights are non-transferable and have remaining tenure of 46 years (31 December 2017: 
47 years, 1 January 2017: 1 and 48 years respectively).

17. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS

West 
Jambi(1) Trembul(2) Total

$’000 $’000 $’000
   

Group
Cost
As at 1 January 2018 2,973 9,471 12,444
Additions – 3,245 3,245
Currency realignment 26 257 283

   

As at 31 December 2018 2,999 12,973 15,972
   

Impairment loss
Impairment made during the financial year, 

representing accumulated impairment loss 
as at 31 December 2018 2,999 – 2,999

   

Carrying amount
As at 31 December 2018 – 12,973 12,973

   

Cost
As at 1 January 2017 3,227 830 4,057
Additions – 9,006 9,006
Currency realignment (254) (365) (619)

As at 31 December 2017 2,973 9,471 12,444

Impairment loss
As at 31 December 2017 – – –

Carrying amount
As at 1 January 2017 3,227 830 4,057

As at 31 December 2017 2,973 9,471 12,444
 

(1) The Group through its wholly-owned subsidiary, GSS Energy Sumatra Limited (“GESL”), entered 
into an Investment Agreement between Ramba Energy West Jambi Limited (“REWJ”) and 
Ramba Energy Exploration Limited (“REEL”) to fund drilling cost for exploration of 2 wells in 
West Jambi, Sumatra, Indonesia up to US$6.0 million for a period up to 30 September 2018.

During the financial year, the Group carried out an impairment assessment of the recoverable 
amount of West Jambi project in the oil and gas segment. The exploration and drilling right 
expired on 30 September 2018 and has not been formally extended. The Group has not been 
provided with budget or future plan of the project. In view of the uncertainty surrounding 
the project, the Group has fully impaired the investment cost and recognised impairment 
loss of $2,999,000 in other expenses. The recoverable amount of the investment has been 
determined to be $Nil, on the basis of fair value less cost of disposal.
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17. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(2) The Group’s Indonesia-incorporated subsidiary, P.T. Sarana GSS Trembul (“PTSGT”) has 
entered into an Operations Cooperation (Kerja Sama Operasi) Agreement with P.T. Pertamina 
EP (“Pertamina”) to assist Pertamina in the production of petroleum in Trembul Operation 
Area, situated within Blora Regency in Central Java Province, Indonesia. The agreement is 
for a period of 15 years since 2015.

The Group has committed to a work programme amounting to US$7,858,000 for initial 
commitment period of 3 years.

The total cost incurred that directly attributable to the exploration and evaluation activities will 
subsequently be transferred to oil and gas properties upon commencement of production.

Based on the Group’s assessment on the relevant permit in the area of interest, financing 
arrangement and the future plan for the project, there are no facts and circumstances to 
suggest that the carrying amount of an exploration and evaluation asset may exceed its 
recoverable amount.

18. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company
31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000

   

Unquoted equity shares, at cost 44,340 44,340 44,260
Allowance for impairment losses (15,657) (15,657) (15,657)

 

28,683 28,683 28,603
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18. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

P.T. Sarana GSS Trembul

In the previous financial year, the Company’s subsidiary, GSS Energy Trembul Limited. (“GETL”) 
and P.T. Sarana Pembangunan Jawa Tengah (“SPJT”) incorporated a subsidiary, P.T. Sarana GSS 
Trembul (“PTSGT”) in Indonesia with a registered and fully-paid up share capital of IDR2,520,000,000 
(equivalent to $270,000). GETL holds 49% of the registered share capital of PTSGT. However, 
GETL provided financing for the remaining 51% shares held by SPJT. Additionally, based on the 
contractual arrangement entered between the Group and SPJT, the Group has majority seats on 
the Board of Directors and Commissioners of PTSGT, to control and direct the relevant activities 
of PTSGT. The Group is also fully responsible for daily operation of PTSGT including management, 
financing activities and human resources. The working capital of PTSGT will be financed by the 
Group in several tranches up to IDR210 billion (equivalent to $23 million) for a period of 3 years. 
The financing provided by the Group will be secured by 40% equity interest in PTSGT pledged by 
SPJT and the loan amount including interest charged will be mandatorily converted into a fixed 
number of new shares in PTSGT (“Mandatory Conversion Shares”) upon completion of the 3 years 
commitment period. After the conversion, the Group will directly own 89% equity interest in PTSGT. 
Management have determined that the above arrangements allow the Group to control PTSGT 
and have effectively given the Group 89% economic interest in PTSGT since 2016. This is considered 
an in-substance current ownership interest of 89% and therefore the Group consolidates PTSGT as 
a subsidiary with an 11% interest attributed to non-controlling interest.

Incorporation of new subsidiaries

(i) On 5 July 2018, the Company’s subsidiary, Giken Sakata (S) Limited, incorporated I-Motor 
Asia Limited., a partially-owned subsidiary in the British Virgin Islands with initial issued and 
paid-up share capital of US$200.

(ii) On 3 September 2018, the Company’s subsidiary, Giken Sakata (S) Limited (“Giken”), 
incorporated Eastern Giken International Co. Limited, a partially-owned subsidiary in Hong 
Kong with initial issued and paid-up share capital of HK$10,000.

(iii) On 23 March 2018, the Company’s subsidiary, Giken Sakata (S) Limited, incorporated PT 
Gading Prima Indo, a wholly-owned subsidiary in Indonesia with initial issued and paid-up 
share capital of IDR500,000,000.

Acquisition of the residual interest in a joint venture and transaction with a non-controlling 
interest

On 15 February 2017, the Company acquired the residual interest in a Singapore incorporated 
joint venture company, GSS-AFCO Pte Ltd (“GSS-AFCO”) as disclosed in Note 19 to the financial 
statements for a consideration of $40,000. Consequent to the acquisition, the GSS-AFCO ceased 
to be a joint venture company and become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. It was 
renamed to Nusantara Resources Pte. Ltd. (“Nusantara”). The fair value of the identifiable asset 
and liabilities of Nusantara as at the date of acquisition were:
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18. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Acquisition of the residual interest in a joint venture and transaction with a non-controlling 
interest (Continued)

Fair value 
recognised 
on date of 
acquisition

$’000
 

Cash and bank balances, representing net identifiable asset at fair value 80

The effects of the acquisition of the subsidiary on cash flows are as follows:
$’000

 

Consideration for acquisition of 50% equity interest
– Cash paid (40)
Less: cash and bank balances of subsidiary acquired 80

Net cash inflow on acquisition 40
 

From the date of acquisition, Nusantara had contributed $15,000 to the loss after tax. If the 
combination had taken place at the beginning of the financial year ended 31 December 2017, 
the Group’s profits, net of tax would had been $4,214,000.

No goodwill arose from the acquisition and no transactions costs had incurred to the acquisition.

Subsequently, the Company acquired 0.1% of the equity interest of Nusantara for a cash 
consideration of $1.

Non-controlling interests

Summarised financial information in relation to P.T. Sarana GSS Trembul that has non-controlling 
interest (“NCI”) that are material to the Group, before intra-group eliminations and together with 
amounts attributed to NCI, is presented below:

2018 2017
$’000 $’000

  

Revenue – –
Loss after tax (874) (1,260)

 

Loss allocated to NCI (96) (139)
Other comprehensive income allocated to NCI (9) 9

 

Total comprehensive income allocated to NCI (105) (130)
 

Cash flows from operating activities 3,099 9,214
Cash flows used in investing activities (3,274) (9,009)
Cash flows from financing activities – –
Net cash (outflows)/inflows (175) 205
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18. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Non-controlling interests (Continued)

31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000

   

Assets:
Current assets 2,164 2,379 335
Non-current assets 13,001 9,474 830

Liabilities:
Current liabilities (17,805) (13,535) (1,669)

Net assets (2,640) (1,685) (504)

Accumulated non-controlling interest (320) (215) (85)
  

19. INVESTMENT IN JOINT ARRANGEMENTS

Investment in joint venture

Group and Company
31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000

   

Unquoted shares, at cost – 40 42
Share of results – – (2)
Carrying amount of interest in a joint venture 

acquired as subsidiary – (40) –
 

– – 40
 

On 27 May 2015, the Company established a joint venture company through separate structure 
vehicles incorporated in Singapore and operating in Indonesia. The contractual arrangements 
provides the Company with only the rights to the net assets of the joint arrangements. Under SFRS(I) 
11, this joint arrangement is classified as a joint venture and has been included in the consolidated 
financial statements using the equity method.

On 15 February 2017, the Company acquired the remaining 50% equity interest in the joint venture 
for a cash consideration of $40,000. Accordingly, GSS-AFCO Pte Ltd ceased to be a joint venture 
and became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group as disclosed in Note 18 to the financial 
statements. Subsequent to the acquisition, the Company was renamed to Nusantara Resources 
Pte. Ltd.
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19. INVESTMENT IN JOINT ARRANGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Investment in joint venture (Continued)

Details of the joint venture is as follows:

Name of joint venture
Principal place 

of business
Principal 
activity

Proportion of
ownership interest

31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017

% % %
   

Nusantara Resource 
Pte. Ltd. (f.k.a GSS-AFCO 
Pte Ltd (“GSS-AFCO”)) Singapore Dormant – – 50

The principal activities of GSS-AFCO was trading of oil and was in line with the Group’s strategy 
to expand the oil and gas business segment. GSS-AFCO was dormant and had not commenced 
operation.

GSS-AFCO had no contingent liabilities and capital commitment as at the date of disposal and 
1 January 2017.

Summarised financial information in relation to the immaterial joint venture in previous financial 
year is presented below:

1 January 2017
$’000

 

Loss generated from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2016  
from continuing operations (4)

Proportion of the Group’s ownership 50%
Share of post-tax profits (2)

 

Investment in joint operations

The Group through its 89% economic interest subsidiary, P.T. Sarana GSS Trembul (“PTSGT”) 
(Note 18) has a material joint operation, Operations Cooperations (Kerja Sama Operasi) Agreement 
with P.T. Pertamina EP (“Pertamina”) to assist Pertamina in the production of petroleum in Trembul 
Operation Area, situated within Blora Regency in Central Java Province, Indonesia.

PTSGT will bear for 100% of the expenditure incurred and is entitled 23.53% income from the sales 
of oil and 31.37% of the sales of natural gas after cost recovery cap at 80% of sales in the calendar 
year.
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20. GOODWILL

Group
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

  

Cost
At beginning and end of the financial year 112 112

  

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to the cash-generating units (“CGU”) 
that are expected to benefit from that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill has 
been allocated to the following segments:

2018 2017
$’000 $’000

  

Microshafts
China 112 112

  

21. DUE FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES

Due from subsidiaries

Company
31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000

   

Non-current
Due from subsidiaries (non-trade) 18,443 13,351 5,588
Allowance for impairment loss (3,132) – –

 

15,311 13,351 5,588
 

Current
Due from a subsidiary (non-trade) 109 – –

 

The non-current balances due from subsidiaries are non-trade in nature, unsecured and non-interest 
bearing. As the amount was, in substance, a part of the Company’s net investment in subsidiaries, 
it was stated at cost less impairment.

During the financial year, the Group carried out a review of the recoverable amount due from a 
subsidiary that has investment in West Jambi project in the oil and gas segment. As a result of the 
expiry of the exploration and drilling right and it has not been formally extended, and the Group 
has not been provided with budget or future plan for the project, this has led to the recognition 
of an impairment loss of $3,132,000 that has been recognised in profit or loss. The recoverable 
amount of the amount due from the subsidiary has been determined to be $Nil.

The current balance due from a subsidiary is non-trade in nature, unsecured, non-interest bearing, 
repayable on demand and settle in cash. It is considered to be a low credit risk and subject to 
immaterial credit loss.
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21. DUE FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Due to a subsidiary

The amounts due to a subsidiary which denominated in Singapore dollar is non-trade in nature, 
non-interest bearing, repayable on demand and settled in cash.

22. INVENTORIES

Group
31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000

   

Finished goods 2,011 1,657 1,004
Work-in-progress 1,260 1,137 1,277
Raw materials 7,806 6,322 4,209
Consumable stock 752 887 –

 

11,829 10,003 6,490
  

The Group’s cost of inventories recognised as expense under “cost of sales” to the Group’s profit 
or loss during the financial year amounted to $77,711,000 (2017: $73,078,000).

The Group recognised a reversal of $4,000 (2017: $82,000), being part of an inventory write-down 
made in the previous financial years, as the inventories were sold above the carrying value during 
the financial year. The reversal is recognised in the Group’s profit or loss under “cost of sales”.

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Group
31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000

   

Trade receivables – third parties 24,016 24,558 18,908
Notes receivables 340 205 –

 

24,356 24,763 18,908
  

Trade receivables from third parties are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 95 
(31 December 2017: 30 to 95, 1 January 2017: 30 to 90) days credit terms. Note receivables are 
trade in nature, unsecured, non-interest bearing and will mature in April 2019 (31 December 2017: 
February 2018).

The Group does not hold any collateral as security.
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at each reporting is as follows:

31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000

   

Group
Not past due 16,833 18,543 16,006
Past due less than 30 days 6,105 4,783 1,895
Past due 30 to 60 days 824 1,116 791
Past due 61 to 90 days 193 232 207
Past due over 90 days 401 89 9

 

24,356 24,763 18,908
  

The Group applies simplified approach and uses provision matrix to measure the lifetime expected 
credit loss allowance for trade receivables. In determining the expected credit losses on a collective 
basis, trade receivables are grouped based on similar credit risk and aging. The Group considers 
the historical customers’ payment profile of respective countries, past due status of the receivables, 
historical loss rate and adjusts to reflect current and forward-looking macroeconomic factors 
affecting the ability of the customers of respective countries to settle the receivables. The Group 
has identified the country risk in which it sells goods and services to be the most relevant factor 
and the historical loss rates is adjusted accordingly based on the expected changes in this factor.

Trade receivables are in default if the debtor fail to make contractual payment when they fall due. 
Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as the 
debtor is in severe financial difficulty. Where receivables are written off, the company continues to 
engage in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivables due. Where recoveries are 
made, these are recognised in profit or loss.

Based on the above assessment, the Group has concluded that the trade receivables are subject to 
immaterial expected credit loss and as such no lifetime expected credit loss has been recognised 
for these receivables. Accordingly the loss allowance is not adjusted to the trade receivables.

Trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

Group
31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000

   

Singapore dollar 1,774 1,684 1,343
United States dollar 19,673 20,313 14,697
Japanese yen 62 37 25
Chinese renminbi 2,435 2,250 2,725
Others 412 479 118

  

24,356 24,763 18,908
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24. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS

Group Company
31 December 1 January 31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017 2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

      

Current
Other receivables 

due from third 
parties 1,373 1,127 561 – 3 –

Advance 
payment 1,655 266 – – – –

Deposits 595 510 195 – – –
  

3,623 1,903 756 – 3 –
  

At 1 January 2017, bankers’ guarantee of $174,000 was issued by a bank for factory rental and 
utilities deposits for a subsidiary of the Company.

Other receivables due from third parties are considered to be a low credit risk and subject to 
immaterial credit loss. Credit loss for these assets has not increased significantly since their initial 
recognition, consequently they are measured at the 12 month expected credit losses.

Other receivables and deposits are denominated in the following currencies:

Group Company
31 December 1 January 31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017 2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

      

Singapore dollar 1,712 687 351 – 3 –
Chinese renminbi 342 212 389 – – –
United States 

dollar 465 – 16 – – –
Indonesia rupiah 1,100 1,000 – – – –
Malaysia ringgit 4 4 – – – –

  

3,623 1,903 756 – 3 –
   

25. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

Group
31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000

   

Unquoted short term investment
– At amortised cost 2,819 7,381 3,337
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25. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

Unquoted short term investment relates to interest bearing short term deposits placed with financial 
institutions for average period of 3 months.

The average effective interest rate of the short term investment range from 3.30% to 4.70% 
(31 December 2017: 3.75% to 4.20%, 1 January 2017: 2.55% to 3.80%) per annum.

At 31 December 2018, the unquoted short-term investments have nominal values amounting to 
$2,819,000 (31 December 2017: $7,381,000, 1 January 2017: $3,337,000), with average coupon rates 
of 3.44% (31 December 2017: 4.0%, 1 January 2017: 3.0%) per annum and maturity dates before 
1 April 2019 (31 December 2017: 19 November 2018, 1 January 2017: 18 March 2017).

Short-term investments placed with financial institutions have low risk of default as the issuers have 
strong capacity to meet the contractual cash flows obligation in the near term (Note 36.1). Credit 
loss for these assets has not increased significantly since their initial recognition, consequently they 
are measure at the 12 month expected credit losses.

There is no disposal or allowance for impairment for these unquoted short-term investments due 
to immaterial credit loss.

Short-term investments is denominated in Chinese renminbi.

26. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Group Company
31 December 1 January 31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017 2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

      

Cash and bank 
balances 7,167 4,508 7,570 91 11 527

Short-term 
deposits 540 1,870 7,966 – – –

  

7,707 6,378 15,536 91 11 527
Less: Bank 

deposits 
pledged (1,596) (1,659) (594) – – –

  

Cash and cash 
equivalents 
for purpose of 
consolidated 
cash flows 
statement 6,111 4,719 14,942 91 11 527
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26. CASH AND BANK BALANCES (CONTINUED)

Short-term deposits

Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of between 1 month to 1 year (31 December 
2017: 1 month to 1 year, 1 January 2017: 1 month and less than 1 year) depending on the 
immediate cash requirement of the Group and earns effective interest rates ranging from 0.5% to 
3% (31 December 2017: 0.5% to 3%, 1 January 2017: 0.18% to 6.40%) per annum. Those deposits 
(excluding pledged deposits) are freely convertible to cash as and when such funds are required 
and will mature within the next 3 months (31 December 2017: within the next 2 months, 1 January 
2017: within the next 12 months).

Bank deposits of the Group amounting to $1,340,000 (31 December 2017: $1,408,000, 1 January 2017: 
$323,000) are pledged to banks to secure short-term bank loans granted to a subsidiary (Note 29).

$256,000 (31 December 2017: $251,000, 1 January 2017: $271,000) of short-term deposits are 
placed with banks as pledge to secure a banker’s guarantee provided for a subsidiary in relation 
to Operations Cooperation Agreement with Pertamina (Note 17).

Cash and cash balances are denominated in the following currencies:

Group Company
31 December 1 January 31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017 2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

      

Singapore dollar 1,630 1,412 4,500 85 2 163
Chinese renminbi 1,393 2,031 3,428 – – –
Indonesian rupiah 1,499 1,543 1,603 – – –
United States 

dollar 2,974 1,320 5,830 6 9 364
Others 211 72 175 – – –

  

7,707 6,378 15,536 91 11 527
   

Chinese renminbi is not freely convertible into foreign currencies. Under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange 
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement and Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange 
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange Chinese renminbi for foreign currencies through 
banks that are authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
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27. TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled in 30 to 90 (31 December 2017 
and 1 January 2017: 30 to 90) days credit terms.

Trade payables are denominated in the following currencies:

Group
31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000

   

Singapore dollar 3,686 2,578 1,502
United States dollar 7,924 6,867 5,746
Japanese yen 29 32 18
Chinese renminbi 3,542 4,890 3,197
Indonesian rupiah 989 1,788 1,344
Euro – 7 –

 

16,170 16,162 11,807
  

28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Group Company
31 December 1 January 31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017 2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

      

Other payables 3,506 4,841 998 61 66 11
Accrued 

operating 
expenses 3,712 4,156 3,382 352 246 352

Deposits and 
advances 
received from 
customers 123 16 29 – – –

  

7,341 9,013 4,409 413 312 363
   

The other payables are non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand and 
are to be settled in cash.
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28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (CONTINUED)

Other payables and accruals are denominated in the following currencies:

Group Company
31 December 1 January 31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017 2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

      

Singapore dollar 2,182 2,551 2,504 413 312 363
Indonesia rupiah 4,394 5,767 1,187 – – –
Chinese renminbi 759 695 718 – – –
Malaysia Ringgit 6 – – – – –

  

7,341 9,013 4,409 413 312 363
  

29. LOAN AND BORROWINGS

Group
31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000

   

Current
Finance lease – 49 43
Short-term bank loans 5,033 2,848 50

 

5,033 2,897 93
 

Non-current
Finance lease – – 21

 

Total loans and borrowings 5,033 2,897 114
 

Finance lease

In the prior financial years, the Company’s subsidiary entered into a 2 years finance lease with a 
lease company. The finance lease bears effective interest rate of 7.59% (31 December 2017: 7.59%, 
1 January 2017: 13.75%) per annum. Interest rate was fixed at the contract dates and accordingly 
it was not exposed to interest rate risk. At the end of the prior financial year, the fair value of the 
Group’s finance lease obligations approximate its carrying amount. The finance lease was on a 
fixed repayment basis and no arrangement has been entered into for contingent rental payments.
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29. LOAN AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Group
31 December 2018 31 December 2017 1 January 2017

Minimum 
lease 

payment

Present 
value of 
payment

Minimum 
lease 

payment

Present 
value of 
payment

Minimum 
lease 

payment

Present 
value of 
payment

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
      

Payable under 
finance leases:

– within one year – – 52 49 49 43
– after one year 

but within five 
years – – – – 22 21

  

– – 52 49 71 64
Future finance 

charges – – (3) – (7) –
  

Present value 
of lease 
obligations – – 49 49 64 64

  

Current portion – – 49 49 49 43
Non-current 

portion – – – – 15 21
  

– – 49 49 64 64
  

The Group’s finance lease is secured by the leased asset, which will revert to the lessor in the event 
of default by the Group.

Finance lease is denominated in Indonesian rupiah.

Short-term bank loans

The short-term secured loans of $1,136,000 (31 December 2017: $1,180,000, 1 January 2017: 
$50,000) are repayable on demand with average effective interest rate range of 1% and 3% per 
annum (31 December 2017: 3.30 % and 4.40% per annum, 1 January 2017: 7.78% per annum). At the 
end of the financial year, the loans are secured by a subsidiary’s bank deposits as disclosed in Note 
26 to the financial statements. The remaining short-term bank loans of $3,897,000 (31 December 
2017:$1,668,000, 1 January 2017: $Nil) with average effective interest rate of 3.45% (31 December 
2017: 3.09% and 3.15% per annum, 1 January 2017: Nil) are secured by trade receivable invoices 
of US$1,692,000 (equivalent to $2,312,000) and corporate guarantee provided by the Company 
(Note 39) and repayable on demand.
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29. LOAN AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Short-term bank loans (Continued)

Short-term bank loans are denominated in the following currencies:

Group
31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000

   

Singapore dollar 1,000 1,000 –
United States dollar 2,897 668 –
Indonesian rupiah 1,136 1,180 50

 

5,033 2,848 50
  

30. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

Group
31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000

   

Retirement gratuities 206 206 206
Employee service entitlement benefits 1,324 1,208 1,120

 

1,530 1,414 1,326
  

Retirement gratuities

Retirement gratuities is calculated based on employment scheme according to Japanese 
Expatriates Termination Handbook:

Group
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

  

At beginning of the financial year 206 206
Provision of gratuity – –

 

At end of the financial year 206 206
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30. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

Employee service entitlement benefits

The Group has defined benefit plan (the “Plan”) and made provision for employee benefits for all 
its permanent employees of subsidiaries as required under the Labour Law No. 13/2003, Indonesia. 
The number of employees entitled to the benefits as at 31 December 2018 is 251 (31 December 
2017: 268, 1 January 2017: 253).

The Plan is funded by P.T. Giken Precision Indonesia (“GPI”) contribute a certain percentage of 
employee salaries to P.T. Asuransi Jiwa Manulife Indonesia (“Manulife”). The fund is administered 
by Manulife.

The Plan is exposed to a number of risks:

(i) Investment risk : movement of discount rate used for defined benefit obligation;

(ii) Salary risk : increase in future salaries increasing the gross defined benefit obligation;

(iii) Interest rate risk : decrease/increase in the discount rate used will increase/decrease the 
defined benefits obligation; and

(iv) Longevity risk : changes in the estimation of mortality rates of current and former 
employee.

In 2019, the Group expects to contribute $90,000 into the Plan.

The provision for employee benefits is calculated by an external independent actuary, PT Tama 
Aktuaria (31 December 2017: PT Binaputera Jaga Hikmah, 1 January 2017: PT Tama Aktuaria 
Nusantara) using the “Projected Unit Credit Method”.

The principal actuarial assumptions used in determining the present value of the defined employee 
benefits include:

Group
31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000

   

Annual discount rate 8.25% 6.91% 8.75%
Annual salary growth rate 2% 4% 4%
Table of mortality Indonesia III-2011 Indonesia III-2011 Indonesia III-2011
Turnover rate 2.5% 2.5% 2.5%
Normal retirement age 55 years 55 years 55 years
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30. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

Employee service entitlement benefits (Continued)

The amount recognised in the statement of financial position is determined as follow:

Group
31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000

   

Defined benefit plan
Present value of defined benefit obligation 1,506 1,373 1,299
Fair value of the Plan assets (182) (165) (179)

 

Net defined benefit liabilities 1,324 1,208 1,120
  

Reconciliation of defined benefit obligation:

Group
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

  

At beginning of financial year 1,373 1,299

Included in profit or loss

Current service costs 125 124
Interest costs 117 83
Expectations of return on program (39) –

Amount recognised as expenses 203 207

Included in other comprehensive income
Remeasurement of post-employment benefits from:

– Demographic assumptions 122 (50)
– Financial assumptions 36 255

Net actuarial losses recognised 158 205

Others
Effects of movements in exchange rates (40) (115)
Benefits paid (188) (223)

 

At end of the financial year 1,506 1,373
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30. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

Employee service entitlement benefits (Continued)

Reconciliation of fair value of the Plan assets:

2018 2017
$’000 $’000

  

At beginning of financial year (165) (179)

Included in profit or loss
Interest costs 4 3

Included in other comprehensive income
Return on plan assets (excluding interest) (2) (16)

Others

Effects of movements in exchange rates 71 14
Employer contributions (93) (87)
Benefits paid 3 100

(19) 27
 

At end of the financial year (182) (165)
  

The fair value of the premium invested by Manulife is analysed as follow:

Group
31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000

   

Fixed income 92 86 90
Syariah fund 90 79 89

 

182 165 179
  

Sensitivity analysis

The impact to the value of the defined benefit obligation of a reasonably possible change to one 
actuarial assumption, holding all other assumptions constant, is presented in the table below:

Actuarial assumption

Reasonably 
possible
change

Defined benefit 
obligation

Increase Decrease
$’000 $’000

  

31 December 2018
Discount rate 8.25% (+/- 1%) 1,318 1,530
Wages and salary growth rate 2% (+/- 1%) 1,545 1,304
Mortality rate 0.1% (+/- 1%) 1,482 1,350
Turnover rate 2.5% (+/- 10%) 1,483 1,349
Retirement age 55 (+/- 1%) 981 2,223
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30. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

Employee service entitlement benefits (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Actuarial assumption

Reasonably 
possible
change

Defined benefit 
obligation

Increase Decrease
$’000 $’000

  

31 December 2017
Discount rate 6.91% (+/- 1%) 1,221 1,438
Wages and salary growth rate 4% (+/- 1%) 1,439 1,217
Mortality rate 0.1% (+/- 1%) 1,323 1,323
Turnover rate 2.5% (+/- 10%) 1,298 1,348
Retirement age 55 (+/- 1%) 1,425 1,231

1 January 2017
Discount rate 8.75% (+/- 1%) 1,183 1,429
Wages and salary growth rate 4% (+/- 1%) 1,433 1,178
Mortality rate 0.1% (+/- 1%) 1,299 1,297
Turnover rate 2.5% (+/- 10%) 1,298 1,298
Retirement age 55 (+/- 1%) 1,303 1,399

The average duration of the post-employment benefits at the end of the financial year is 14 years 
(31 December 2017: 13 years, 1 January 2017: 15 years).

31. SHARE CAPITAL

Group and Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

Number of 
ordinary shares $’000 $’000

   

Issued and paid up:
At beginning and end of the 

financial year 496,158,657 496,158,657 58,522 58,522
  

The Group and the Company has one class of ordinary shares which carries no right to fixed 
income. The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends when declared by the 
Company. All ordinary shares have no par value and carry one vote per share without restrictions.
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32. OTHER RESERVES

Other reserves comprise the following:

Group Company
31 December 1 January 31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017 2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

      

Equity 
non-controlling 
interest 132 (3) (3) – – –

Foreign currency 
translation reserve (192) 72 119 – – –

Share options reserve 2,747 1,121 – 2,747 1,121 –
Statutory reserve 1,156 1,006 873 – – –

  

3,843 2,196 989 2,747 1,121 –
   

Equity non-controlling interest

The equity non-controlling interest is the effect of transaction with non-controlling interest where 
there is no change in control.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences arising from the translation 
of the financial statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from that 
of the Group’s presentation currency.

Share options reserve

The share options reserve represents the value of service received from employees of the Group 
and the Company relating to equity settled share-based payment transactions.

As disclosed in Directors’ Statement Note 5, the Board of Directors and GSS Energy Limited 
Executives’ Share Option Scheme Committee approved and granted two equity-settled share-
based payment option, to Directors of the Company, Directors of subsidiaries and certain senior 
management to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company. Options are exercisable at a price 
based on the average of the last done prices for the shares of the company on the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited on the grant date; or may at its discretion fix the exercise 
price at a discount not exceeding 20% to the above price. If the options, after the vesting period, 
remain unexercised before the expiry date, the options expire. The options will lapse or forfeited if 
the individual leaves before the options vest.
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32. OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED)

Share options reserve (Continued)

Detail of the share options outstanding at the end of the financial year are as follows:

Date
granted

Balance
at 

1 January
‘000

Number 
of share 
options 
at date 
of grant

‘000

Cancelled/
Lapsed

‘000
Exercised 

‘000

Balance at
31 December 

‘000

Vesting
period 

(month)

Option 
expiry 
date

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
$

        

2018
27 February 

2017 10,000 – – – 10,000 12 26 Feb 2022 0.12320
27 February 

2017 28,400 – – – 28,400 24 26 Feb 2022 0.09856
27 February 

2017 1,400 – – – 1,400 24 26 Feb 2020 0.09856
24 April 2017 7,400 – – – 7,400 22 26 Feb 2022 0.09856
23 February 

2018 – 1,150 – – 1,150 24 22 Feb 2021 0.12512
23 February 

2018 – 26,073 (1,000) – 25,073 24 22 Feb 2023 0.12512

47,200 27,223 (1,000) – 73,423 0.11152

2017
27 February 

2017 – 10,000 – – 10,000 12 26 Feb 2022 0.12320
27 February 

2017 – 28,400 – – 28,400 24 26 Feb 2022 0.09856
27 February 

2017 – 1,400 – – 1,400 24 26 Feb 2020 0.09856
24 April 2017 – 7,400 – – 7,400 22 26 Feb 2022 0.09856

– 47,200 – – 47,200 0.10378
 

10,000,000 shares had vested and are exercisable at the end of the financial year (31 December 
2017: Nil).

The exercise price of options outstanding at 31 December 2018 ranged between $0.09856 and 
$0.12512 (31 December 2017: $0.09856 and $0.12320) and their weighted average contractual life 
was 4.3 years (31 December 2017: 4.4 years).

The weighted average fair value of each options granted during the year was $0.0533 
(31 December 2017: $0.0491).
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32. OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED)

Share options reserve (Continued)

The following information is relevant in the determination of the fair value of options granted during 
the financial year under the equity-settled share based payment.

GEL 2018 Scheme
granted in 2018

GEL Scheme
granted in 2017

  

Option pricing model used The Black-Scholes The Black-Scholes
The weighted average share price at grant date $0.1564 $0.1288
Expected volatility 48.23% 52.29%
Expected dividend growth rate – –
Expected life of option 3 to 5 years 3 to 5 years
Risk-free interest rate 2.39% 2.06%

The expected volatility is based on the standard deviation of the Company’s historical closing price 
over the 12 months in previous year.

The Group and the Company recognised total expenses of $1,626,000 (31 December 2017: 
$1,121,000) related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions during the financial year.

The Group did not enter into any share-based transactions with parties other than employees 
during the financial year.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Foreign Enterprise Law applicable to the subsidiary in People’s Republic of 
China (PRC), the subsidiary is required to make appropriation to a Statutory Reserve Fund (SRF). 
At least 10% of the statutory after tax profits as determined in accordance with applicable PRC 
accounting standards and regulations must be allocated to the SRF until the cumulative total of 
the SRF reaches 50% of the subsidiary’s registered capital. Subject to approval from the relevant 
authorities, the SRF may be used to offset any accumulated losses or increase the registered capital 
of the subsidiary. The SRF is not available for dividend distribution to shareholders.

33. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

For the purpose of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group and 
the Company if the Group and the Company have the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the 
party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and operating decisions, 
or vice versa, or where the Group and the Company and the party are subject to common control 
or common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

The Group’s and Company’s transactions and arrangements are based on the rates and terms 
agreed between the parties and the effect of this basis is reflected in these financial statements.
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33. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

During the financial year, in addition to those disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, 
the Group entities and the Company entered into the following transactions with related parties:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

    

With subsidiaries
Payment on behalf by a subsidiary – – 258 57
Advance to a subsidiary – – 4,975 7,573
Payment made on behalf of subsidiaries – – 183 195
Management fee income – – 567 389
Management expense – – 125 95
Interest charged by a subsidiary – – 62 –
Loan from a subsidiary – – 6,509 9,200

  

Compensation of key management personnel

Key management personnel compensation included in employee benefit expenses is as follows:

Group
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

  

Directors’ fees 72 72
Salaries, bonuses and allowances 1,869 1,933
Provident fund and pension contributions 67 74
Employee share options expenses 1,575 1,121

 

Total compensation paid to key management personnel 3,583 3,200
 

Comprise amounts paid to:
– Directors of the Company 2,773 2,464
– Other key management personnel 810 736

 

3,583 3,200
 

The remuneration of key management personnel is determined by the remuneration committee 
having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.
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33. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has various lease commitments in respect of factory, 
office and residential premises and office equipment in subsequent accounting periods as follows:

Group
31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000

   

Future minimum lease payments payable:
Within one year 1,114 871 1,201
After one year but within five years 1,469 48 886

 

2,583 919 2,087
  

Most leases contain renewable options. Lease terms do not contain restrictions on the Group’s 
activities concerning dividends, additional debt or further leasing. Leases are negotiated for an 
average term of 1 to 5 years (31 December 2017 and 1 January 2017: 1 to 5 years), with no provision 
for contingent lease or upward revision of lease based on market price indices.

The Group as lessor

A subsidiary of the Group had entered into leases with third parties in respect of its office premises in 
People’s Republic of China in the previous financial year. This non-cancellable leases had remaining 
lease terms within 1 to 2 years. The leases included a clause to enable upward revision of the 
annual rental charge based on prevailing market conditions with no provision for contingent lease.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has contracted with tenant for the following future 
minimum lease payments:

Group
31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000

   

Future minimum lease payments receivable:
Within one year – – 19

  

35. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the chief 
operating decision-maker. A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged 
either in providing products or services (business segment), or in providing products or services 
within a particular economic environment (geographical segment), which is subject to risks and 
rewards that are different from those of other segments.
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35. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of 
making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance 
is evaluated based on operation profit or loss which is similar to the accounting profit or loss.

Income taxes are managed by the management of respective entities within the Group.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in the 
summary of significant accounting policies. There is no asymmetrical allocation to reportable 
segments. Management evaluates performance on the basis of profit or loss from operation before 
tax expense not including interest income and interest expenses and share of results of equity 
accounted joint venture.

There is no change from prior periods in the measurement methods used to determine reported 
segment profit or loss.

The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers as if the sales or transfers were to third 
parties, which approximate market prices. These intersegment transactions are eliminated on 
consolidation.

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as 
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.

The Group’s reportable segments are organised on a regional basis into three main operating 
businesses, namely:

– Mechanisms division

– Microshafts division

– Oil extraction

Mechanisms division provides advanced production technology to multi-national manufacturers in 
the field of home and car audio entertainment, communication, computer and office automation 
industries and medical industries.

Microshafts division concentrates on the manufacturing of high precision shafts.

Oil extraction represent the operation of drilling and distribution of oil in Indonesia.

Other operations include marketing and provision of sales support services.
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35. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(a) Analysis by business activities

Mechanisms Microshafts
Oil

extraction
Unallocated 

segment Eliminations Group
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

      

31 December 
2018

Revenue
External 

customers 77,520 23,312 – – – 100,832
Intersegment 

revenues 17,893 1,921 – – (19,814) –
      

95,413 25,233 – – (19,814) 100,832
      

Results:
Operating profit/

(loss) 6,713 3,617 (4,418) (3,104) – 2,808
Interest income 203
Interest expense (136)
Income tax 

expense (748)
Non-controlling 

interests 184
 

Net profit 2,311
 

Segment assets 
and liabilities

Segment assets 38,237 23,297 15,167 232 – 76,933
 

Total assets 76,933
 

Segment liabilities 20,609 5,267 3,537 1,063 – 30,476
 

Total liabilities 30,476
 

Other segment 
information

Allowance for 
inventories 
obsolescence 
written back 4 – – – – 4

Government 
incentive – 449 – – – 449

Impairment of 
exploration and 
evaluation asset – – (2,999) – – (2,999)

Capital 
expenditure (1,711) (2,221) (3,271) – – (7,203)

Depreciation and 
amortisation (1,111) (844) (4) – – (1,959)
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35. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(a) Analysis by business activities (Continued)

Mechanisms Microshafts
Oil 

extraction
Unallocated 

segment Eliminations Group
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

      

31 December 
2017

Revenue
External 

customers 70,811 23,516 – – – 94,327
Intersegment 

revenues 16,062 2,214 – – (18,276) –

86,873 25,730 – – (18,276) 94,327

Results:
Operating profit 6,431 4,210 (2,495) (2,330) – 5,816
Interest income 198
Interest expense (21)
Income tax 

expense (1,779)
Non-controlling 

interests 141

Net profit 4,355

Segment assets 
and liabilities

Segment assets 33,763 25,847 14,898 460 – 74,968

Total assets 74,968

Segment liabilities 17,429 8,764 4,497 1,144 – 31,834

Total liabilities 31,834

Other segment 
information

Allowance for 
inventories 
obsolescence 
written back 28 54 – – – 82

Capital 
expenditure (955) (4,430) (9,010) – – (14,395)

Compensation for 
expropriation 
of land and 
building by 
Changzhou 
Government 
State Land 
Office – 3,128 – – – 3,128

Depreciation and 
amortisation (943) (695) (1) – – (1,639)
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35. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(a) Analysis by business activities (Continued)

Mechanisms Microshafts
Oil 

extraction
Unallocated 

segment Eliminations Group
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

      

1 January 2017
Segment assets 

and liabilities
Segment assets 23,523 21,160 4,968 7,842 – 57,493

 

Total assets 57,493

Segment liabilities 12,013 6,234 364 991 – 19,602
 

Total liabilities 19,602
 

(b) Analysis by geographical activities

Revenues from external customers

Revenue is analysed by the location of the customers and by products and service are 
disclosed in Note 4 to the financial statements. The revenues from the top three customers of 
the Group’s Mechanisms segment represent approximately $59,459,000 (2017: $54,787,000) 
of the Group’s total revenues.

Locations of non-current assets

Segment assets and capital expenditure are analysed by location of the assets. Non-current 
assets consist of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, land use rights, goodwill 
and exploration and evaluation assets.

Non-current assets Capital expenditure
31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017 2018 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

     

Singapore 164 212 227 50 108
Indonesia 16,751 15,858 7,428 4,685 9,960
China 9,492 8,296 4,682 2,468 4,327

  

26,407 24,366 12,337 7,203 14,395
   

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group is exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the use of financial 
instruments. The key financial risks include credit risk, foreign currency risk and liquidity risk. The 
Board of Directors reviews and approves policies and procedures for the management of these risks, 
which are executed by the Chief Executive Officer, Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer. 
The Audit Committee provides independent oversight to the effectiveness of the risk management 
process. It is, and has been throughout the current and previous reporting period, the Group’s 
policy that no derivatives shall be undertaken. The Group and the Company do not apply hedge 
accounting.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s exposure to the above-mentioned 
financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks.

There have been no changes to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in 
which it manages and measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity 
analysis as indicated below.

36.1 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a 
counterparty default on its obligations. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily 
from trade and other receivables. For other financial assets (including cash and bank 
balances), the Group and the Company minimise credit risk by dealing exclusively with high 
credit rating counterparties.

The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred 
due to increased credit risk exposure. The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy 
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are 
subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on 
an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to credit risk is not significant. For 
transactions that do not occur in the country of the relevant operating unit, the Group does 
not offer credit terms without the approval of the Chief Financial Officer.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group does not have any significant credit exposure to any 
single counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics except for 
16 (2017: 13) customers altogether accounted for 84% (2017: 84%) of trade receivables.

The Group’s major classes of financial assets are bank deposits, trade receivables and 
short-term investments. Bank deposits and short-term investments are mainly deposits or 
investments with reputable banks, which are rated “BB” to “AA” based on Standard & Poor’s 
rating.

Impairment of cash and bank balance, pledged deposits and short-term investments 
are measured based on 12-month expected credit loss model. As the reporting date, the 
Group and the Company did not expect any credit losses from non-performance by the 
counterparties.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

36.1 Credit risk (Continued)

As the Group and the Company do not hold any collateral, the maximum exposure to credit 
risk is represented by the carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised in the 
financial statements, except for the following:

Company
31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000

   

Corporate guarantees provided to banking 
facilities of a subsidiary (Note 39) – – –

  

These corporate guarantees are subject to the impairment requirement of SFRS(I) 9. The 
Company has assessed that its subsidiaries have strong financial capacity to meet the 
contractual cash flow obligations in the near future and hence, does not expect significant 
credit losses arising from these guarantees.

For amount due from subsidiaries (Note 21), Board of Directors has taken into account 
information that it has available internally about these subsidiaries’ past, current and 
expected operating performance and cash flow position. Board of Directors monitors and 
assess at each reporting date on any indicator of significant increase in credit risk on the 
amount due from the respective subsidiaries, by considering their performance ratio and any 
default in external debts. The risk of default is considered to be minimal as these subsidiaries 
have sufficient liquid assets and cash to repay their debts. Therefore, amount due from 
subsidiaries has been measured based on 12-month expected credit loss model and subject 
to immaterial credit loss.

In the previous financial year under previous accounting policy, trade receivables that were 
neither past due nor impaired were substantially companies with good collection track record 
with the Group was provided in Note 23 to the financial statements.

36.2 Market risk

Foreign currency risk

The Group are exposed to foreign currency risk on transactions and balances that are 
denominated in a currency other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities. 
The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily United States dollar (USD), Indonesian rupiah 
(IDR), Euro (Euro) and Japanese yen (YEN).

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and 
monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Group
31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000

   

Monetary assets
SGD 432 196 647
USD 21,970 21,242 20,260
Euro 247 228 111
IDR 4,189 2,842 1,709
YEN 141 62 101
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

36.2 Market risk (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Group
31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000

   

Monetary liabilities
SGD 1 19 –
USD 10,800 7,535 5,746
Euro – 7 –
IDR 6,519 8,783 2,531
YEN 31 32 18

  

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following table details the sensitivity to a percentage increase and decrease in the 
respective functional currencies against the relevant foreign currencies. It indicates the 
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management 
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign 
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency 
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting period 
for the percentage change in foreign currency rates.

If the functional currency changes against the following foreign currencies by 5% (31 
December 2017: 5%, 1 January 2017: 5%) each respectively at the end of the reporting period, 
assuming that all other variables held constant, the effects arising from the net financial asset 
position for the Group and of the Company will be as follows:

Increase/(Decrease)
Profit or loss

31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000

   

Group
Singapore dollar
Strengthen against Chinese renminbi 21 6 32
Weaken against Chinese renminbi (21) (6) (32)

United States dollar
Strengthen against Chinese renminbi 63 46 32
Weaken against Chinese renminbi (63) (46) (32)

Japanese yen
Strengthen against Chinese renminbi 7 3 5
Weaken against Chinese renminbi (7) (3) (5)
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

36.2 Market risk (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Increase/(Decrease)
Profit or loss

31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000

   

United States dollar
Strengthen against Singapore dollar 496 639 694
Weaken against Singapore dollar (496) (639) (694)

Euro
Strengthen against Singapore dollar 12 11 6
Weaken against Singapore dollar (12) (11) (6)

Indonesian rupiah
Strengthen against Singapore dollar (1) (130) (50)
Weaken against Singapore dollar 1 130 50

Japanese yen
Strengthen against Singapore dollar 1 (2) (1)
Weaken against Singapore dollar (1) 2 1

Indonesian rupiah
Strengthen against United States dollar (115) (167) 3
Weaken against United States dollar 115 167 (3)

  

36.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations 
due to shortage of funds. The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from 
mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The Group’s and the 
Company’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility 
through the use of stand-by credit facilities.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

36.3 Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at the end 
of the reporting period based on contractual undiscounted payments.

31 December 2018 31 December 2017 1 January 2017
1 year 
or less

2 to 
5 years Total

1 year 
or less

2 to 
5 years Total

1 year 
or less

2 to 
5 years Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
         

Group
Trade payables 16,170 – 16,170 16,162 – 16,162 11,807 – 11,807
Other payables and 

accruals 7,218 – 7,218 8,997 – 8,997 4,380 – 4,380
Loan and 

borrowings 5,251 – 5,251 2,938 – 2,938 125 – 125
   

28,639 – 28,639 28,097 – 28,097 16,312 – 16,312
    

36.4 Capital management policy

The Group and the Company manage their capital to ensure the Group and the Company 
maintain an optimal capital structure so as to support its business and maximise shareholder 
value. To achieve this objective, the Group and the Company may make adjustments to their 
capital structure in view of changes in economic conditions, such as adjusting the amount 
of dividend payment, returning capital to shareholders or issuing new shares.

The Group and the Company manage their capital based on gearing ratio. The Group’s and 
the Company’s strategies were unchanged from 2017. The gearing ratio is calculated as 
net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as loan and borrowings plus trade 
and other payables less cash and bank balances. Total capital is calculated as equity plus 
net debt.

As disclosed in Note 32 to the financial statements, a subsidiary of the Group is required 
by the Foreign Enterprise Law of the PRC to contribute to and maintain a non-distributable 
statutory reserve fund whose utilisation is subject to approval by the relevant PRC authorities.

The Group and the Company are in compliance with the above externally imposed capital 
requirements at the end of each reporting period.



124 ANNUAL REPORT 2018     GSS ENERGY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

36.4 Capital management policy (Continued)

Group Company
31 December 1 January 31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017 2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

      

Trade and other 
payables 23,511 25,175 16,216 413 312 363

Loan and 
borrowings 5,033 2,897 114 – – –

Less: cash and 
cash equivalents (6,111) (4,719) (14,942) (91) (11) (527)

  

Net debt 22,433 23,353 1,388 322 301 (164)
  

Equity attributable 
to the equity 
holders of the 
Company 46,868 43,216 37,976 24,391 28,993 30,575

  

Total capital 46,868 43,216 37,976 24,391 28,993 30,575
  

Capital and total 
debt 69,301 66,569 39,364 24,713 29,294 30,411

  

Gearing ratio 32.4% 35.1% 3.5% 1.30% 1.03% (0.5%)
   

36.5 Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, trade and other current receivables and 
payables approximate their respective fair values due to the relative short term maturity of 
these financial instruments. The fair values of non-current liabilities in relation to finance lease 
payable is disclosed in Notes 29 to the financial statements.

The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised costs, 
which approximate their fair value, are detailed in the following table.

Group Company
31 December 1 January 31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017 2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

      

Financial assets
Trade receivables 24,356 24,763 18,908 – – –
Other receivables 

and deposits 1,968 1,637 756 – 3 –
Due from a 

subsidiary – – – 109 – –
Short-term 

investments 2,819 7,381 3,337 – – –
Cash and bank 

balances 7,707 6,378 15,536 91 11 527
  

Total financial assets 
at amortised cost 
(2017: Total loans 
and receivables) 36,850 40,159 38,537 200 14 527
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

36.5 Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities (Continued)

Group Company
31 December 1 January 31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017 2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

      

Financial liabilities
Trade payables 16,170 16,162 11,807 – – –
Other payables 

and accruals 7,218 8,997 4,380 413 312 363
Due to a subsidiary – – – 19,403 12,753 3,829
Loan and 

borrowings 5,033 2,897 114 – – –
  

Total financial 
liabilities at 
amortised cost 28,421 28,056 16,301 19,816 13,065 4,192

   

Fair value hierarchy

The Group and the Company classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy 
that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value 
hierarchy has the following levels:

• Level 1 – the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard 
terms and conditions and which trade in active liquid markets are 
determined with reference to quoted market prices;

• Level 2 – in the absence of quoted market prices, the fair values of the other 
financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) 
are determined using the other observable inputs such as quoted prices 
for similar assets/liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or 
similar assets/liabilities in non-active markets or inputs other than quoted 
prices that are observable for the asset or liability;

• Level 3 – in the absence of observable inputs, the fair values of the remaining 
financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivatives instruments) 
are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models; 
and

• The fair value of derivative instruments are calculated using quoted prices (Level 1 of 
fair value hierarchy). Where such prices are unavailable, discounted cash flow analysis 
is used, based on the applicable yield curve of the duration of the instruments for 
non-optional derivatives, and option pricing models for optional derivatives (Level 3 
of fair value hierarchy).
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37. DIVIDENDS

The Company did not recommend any dividend in respect of the financial year ended 
31 December 2018.

38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments contracted for at the end of the financial year but not recognised in the 
financial statements were as follows:

Group
31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000

   

Property, plant and equipment 8,036 1,432 –
Construction-in-progress – 8,112 1,385

 

8,036 9,544 1,385
  

39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, UNSECURED

At each reporting date, the total amount of loans outstanding due from a subsidiary is covered 
by the corporate guarantees provided by the company amounting to $3,897,000 (31 December 
2017: $1,668,000, 1 January 2017: $Nil). Such guarantees are in the form of a financial guarantee 
as they require the Company to reimburse the respective banks if the respective subsidiaries to 
which the guarantees were extended fail to make principal or interest repayments when due in 
accordance with the terms of the borrowings. There has been no default or non-repayment since 
the utilisation of the banking facility.

40. AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2018, 
the statement of financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2018 and the statement of 
changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2018 were authorised 
for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2019.
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DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

SHARE CAPITAL

Class of equity securities : Ordinary Shares with equal voting rights
Issued and fully paid-up share capital : S$58,521,779
Number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and 
subsidiary holdings)

: 496,158,657

Number of treasury shares : Nil
Number of subsidiary holdings held : Nil
Percentage of treasury shares against the total number 
of issued shares excluding treasury shares and subsidiary 
holdings

: 0%

SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS
NO. OF

SHAREHOLDERS % NO. OF SHARES %

1 – 99 4 0.13 37 0.00
100 – 1,000 331 10.84 313,748 0.06
1,001 – 10,000 1,130 37.01 6,072,500 1.22
10,001 – 1,000,000 1,549 50.74 168,974,748 34.06
1,000,001 AND ABOVE 39 1.28 320,797,624 64.66

TOTAL 3,053 100.00 496,158,657 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

NO. NAME NO. OF SHARES %

1 RHB SECURITIES SINGAPORE PTE. LTD. 185,503,999 37.39
2 MAYBANK KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD. 20,776,933 4.19
3 DBS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 16,184,700 3.26
4 RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE.) LIMITED 16,089,200 3.24
5 CGS-CIMB SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD. 7,390,309 1.49
6 DBS VICKERS SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 6,882,200 1.39
7 OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LIMITED 6,342,400 1.28
8 BPSS NOMINEES SINGAPORE (PTE.) LTD. 6,250,000 1.26
9 NG CHENG LYE 4,495,700 0.91
10 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 3,579,000 0.72
11 UOB KAY HIAN PRIVATE LIMITED 3,217,000 0.65
12 CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 3,132,424 0.63
13 KGI SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD. 2,506,800 0.51
14 LIN GUODONG 2,200,000 0.44
15 CHRISTOPH OLIVER SEIBOLD-GRAF 2,000,000 0.40
16 FOO SIEW JIUAN 2,000,000 0.40
17 YZELMAN GEOFFREY ERIC 1,952,900 0.39
18 YONG CHIN FAH 1,900,000 0.38
19 CHEN YANJIE 1,800,000 0.36
20 LIM & TAN SECURITIES PTE LTD 1,799,700 0.36

TOTAL 296,003,265 59.65
 

68.28% of the Company’s share are held in the hands of the public. Accordingly, the Company has 
complied with Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, Section B: Rules of Catalist.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Name
Direct  

Interest
Deemed  
Interest

Total No.  
of Shares %

SUNDAN PACIFIC LIMITED 66,700,000 – 66,700,000 13.44%
FUNG KAU LEE, GLENN(1) – 66,700,000 66,700,000 13.44%
ROOTS CAPITAL ASIA LIMITED 90,675,000 – 90,675,000 18.28%
YEUNG KIN BOND, SYDNEY(2) – 90,675,000 90,675,000 18.28%

Notes:

(1) Mr Fung Kau Lee, Glenn is deemed to have an interest in the 66,700,000 shares held by Sundan Pacific Limited.

(2) Mr Yeung Kin Bond, Sydney is deemed to have an interest in the 90,675,000 shares held by Roots Capital Asia Limited. 
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Fourth Annual General Meeting of GSS Energy Limited (the “Company”) 
will be held at Block 4012 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 10, #05-01 Techplace I, Singapore 569628 on Friday, 26 April 
2019, at 10.00 a.m. for the following purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Statement and the Audited Financial Statements of the 
Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2018 together with the Auditors’ Reports 
thereon.

 (Resolution 1)

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees of S$72,000 for the financial year ended 31 December 
2018. (2017: S$72,000)

 (Resolution 2)

3. To re-elect the following Directors of the Company retiring pursuant to Regulation 89 of the 
Constitution of the Company:

(i) Mr Yeung Kin Bond Sydney (See Explanatory Note 1) (Resolution 3a)

(ii) Mr Fung Kau Lee Glenn (See Explanatory Note 2) (Resolution 3b)

4. To re-appoint Messrs BDO LLP as the Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors of the 
Company to fix their remuneration.

 (Resolution 4)

5. To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General 
Meeting.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without 
any modifications:

6. Authority to allot and issue shares

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and Rule 806 of Listing Manual 
Section B: Rules of Catalist of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “Catalist 
Rules”), the Directors of the Company be authorised and empowered to allot and issue shares and 
convertible securities in the capital of the Company (whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise) 
at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the Directors may, 
in their absolute discretion, deem fit provided that the aggregate number of the shares to be 
allotted and issued pursuant to this Resolution shall not exceed one hundred per centum (100%) 
of the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares 
and subsidiary holdings) at the time of the passing of this Resolution, of which the aggregate of 
shares and convertible securities to be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to all shareholders of 
the Company shall not exceed fifty per centum (50%) of the total number of issued shares in the 
capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) and that such authority 
shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, continue in force (i) until the 
conclusion of the Company’s next annual general meeting or the date by which the next annual 
general meeting of the Company is required by the law to be held, whichever is earlier; or (ii) in 
the case of shares to be issued in accordance with the terms of convertible securities issued, made 
or granted pursuant to this Ordinary Resolution 5, until the issuance of such shares in accordance 
with the terms of such convertible securities.

(See Explanatory Note 3) (Resolution 5)
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7. Authority to grant share options, allot and issue shares under GSS Energy Limited Executives’ 
Share Option Scheme and GSS Energy Limited 2018 Executives’ Share Option Scheme

That the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised, pursuant to Section 161 of 
the Companies Act, Cap. 50, to offer and grant options (“Options”) in accordance with the GSS 
Energy Limited Executives’ Share Option Scheme (the “GEL Scheme”) and GSS Energy Limited 2018 
Executives’ Share Option Scheme (the “GEL 2018 Scheme”) (collective known as “GEL Schemes”), 
and to allot and issue from time to time such number of shares as may be required to be issued 
pursuant to the exercise of the options granted or to be granted under the GEL Schemes and 
to do all such acts and things as may be necessary or expedient to carry the same into effect, 
provided always that:

(a) the aggregate number of shares over which Options may be granted on any date (when 
added to the number of shares issued and/or are issuable upon the exercise of the Options 
and the number of shares issued and/or issuable in respect of all shares, options or awards 
granted under any other share option or share scheme of the Company then in force (if 
any)) shall not exceed fifteen per cent (15%) of the total number of the total issued share 
capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) of the Company 
on the day preceding that date; and

(b) the aggregate number of shares to be offered to certain participants collectively and 
individually during the duration of the GEL Schemes (subject to adjustments, if any, made 
under the GEL Schemes) shall not exceed such limits or (as the case may be) sub-limits as 
may be prescribed in the GEL Schemes.

(See Explanatory Note 4) (Resolution 6)

8. The proposed renewal of the Share Buy-Back Mandate

That:

(a) pursuant to Section 76C and 76E of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”), and Part XI 
of Chapter 8 of the Listing Manual Section B: Rules of Catalist (the “Catalist Rules”) of the 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), the Directors of the Company 
be authorized and empowered to purchase or otherwise acquire issued ordinary shares in 
the capital of the Company (“Shares”) not exceeding in aggregate the Maximum Limit (as 
hereafter defined), at such price or prices as may be determined by the Directors of the 
Company from time to time up to the Maximum Price (as hereafter defined), whether by way 
of:

(i) on-market purchases through the ready market of the SGX-ST or, as the case may 
be, any other stock exchange on which the Shares may for the time being be listed 
and quoted (“Other Exchange”), through one or more duly licensed stockbrokers 
appointed by the Company for the purpose (the “On-Market Share Buy-Back”); and/or
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(ii) off-market purchases (if effected otherwise than on the SGX-ST) in accordance with any 
equal access scheme(s) as defined in Section 76C of the Act as may be determined 
or formulated by the Directors as they may consider fit and in the best interests of the 
Company, which scheme(s) shall satisfy all the conditions prescribed by the Act and 
the Catalist Rules (the “Off-Market Share Buy-Back”);

and otherwise in accordance with all other laws, regulations and rules of the SGX-ST or, as the 
case may be, Other Exchange, as may for the time being be applicable, be and is hereby 
authorised and approved generally and unconditionally (“Share Buy-Back Mandate”);

(b) any Share purchased or acquired by the Company is deemed cancelled immediately 
on purchase or acquisition (and all rights and privileges attached to the Share will expire 
on such cancellation) unless such Share is held by the Company as a treasury share in 
accordance with the Act;

(c) unless varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, the authority conferred 
on the Directors of the Company pursuant to the proposed renewal of the Share Buy-Back 
Mandate may be exercised by the Directors of the Company at any time and from time to 
time during the period commencing from the passing of this resolution and expiring on the 
earliest of:

(i) the date on which the next annual general meeting of the Company is held or required 
by law to be held;

(ii) the date on which purchases and acquisitions of Shares pursuant to the Share 
Buy-Back Mandate are carried out to the full extent mandated; and

(iii) the date on which the authority contained in the Share Buy-Back Mandate is varied or 
revoked by the Company in a general meeting;

(d) In this resolution:

“Maximum Limit” means the number of Shares representing ten per centum (10%) of the 
total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) as at the 
date of the passing of this resolution unless the Company has effected a reduction of the 
share capital of the Company in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Act at 
any time during the Relevant Period (as defined hereinafter), in which event the issued share 
capital of the Company shall be taken to be the amount of the issued share capital of the 
Company as altered (excluding any treasury shares and subsidiary holdings that may be 
held by the Company from time to time);

“Relevant Period” means the period commencing from the date on which the last annual 
general meeting of the Company was held and expiring on the date the next annual general 
meeting of the Company is held or is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier, or until 
it is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, after the date of the passing 
of this resolution; and
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“Maximum Price” in relation to a Share to be purchased, means the purchase price 
(excluding brokerage, stamp duties, applicable goods and services tax and other related 
expenses) not exceeding:

(i) in the case of an On-Market Share Buy-Back, one hundred and five per centum (105%) 
of the Average Closing Price; and

(ii) in the case of an Off-Market Share Buy-Back, one hundred and twenty per centum 
(120%) of the Average Closing Price,

where:

“Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of a Share over the 
last five (5) market days on which the Shares were transacted on the SGX-ST or, as the case 
may be, Other Exchange, preceding the day of the On-Market Share Buy-Back or, as the 
case may be, the day of the making of the offer pursuant to an Off-Market Share Buy-Back, 
as deemed to be adjusted for any corporate action that occurs after the relevant five (5) 
market day period; and

(e) The Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorized to complete and do all such acts 
and things (including executing such documents as may be required) as they may consider 
expedient or necessary to give effect to the transactions contemplated by this resolution.

(See Explanatory Note 5) (Resolution 7)

By Order of the Board

Ng Say Tiong/Wong Liong Khoon
Company Secretaries
Singapore, 11 April 2019

Explanatory Notes:

1. Mr Yeung Kin Bond Sydney will, upon passing the Ordinary Resolution 3a in item 3 above, remain as a member of Nominating 
Committee.

2. Mr Glenn Fung Kau Lee will, upon passing the Ordinary Resolution 3b in item 3 above, remain as a member of Audit Committee 
and Remuneration Committee respectively, and will be considered non-independent for the purpose of Rule 704(7) of the Listing 
Manual Section B: Rules of Catalist of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

3. The Ordinary Resolution 5 in item 6 above, if passed, will empower the Directors from the date of this meeting until the date of 
the next annual general meeting or the date by which the next annual general meeting is required by law to be held or when 
varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to allot and issue shares and convertible securities 
in the Company. The number of shares and convertible securities that the Directors may allot and issue under this Resolution 
would not exceed one hundred per centum (100%) of the total number of issued shares of the Company at the time of passing 
this Resolution. For issue of shares and convertible securities other than on a pro-rata basis to all shareholders, the aggregate 
number of shares and convertible securities to be issued shall not exceed fifty per centum (50%) of the total number of issued 
shares of the Company.

For the purpose of Ordinary Resolution 5, the percentage of issued shares is based on the total number of issued shares at the 
time Ordinary Resolution 5 is passed after adjusting for (a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible 
securities; (b) new shares arising from the exercise of share options or the vesting of share awards outstanding or subsisting at 
the time when Ordinary Resolution 5 is passed, provided the options and awards were granted in compliance with Part VIII of 
Chapter 8 of the Catalist Rules; and (c) any subsequent bonus issue, consideration or subdivision of shares.
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4. The Ordinary Resolution 6 in item 7 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, to grant options and to allot 
and issue shares upon the exercise of such options granted or to be granted in accordance with the GEL Schemes provided 
that the number of shares which the Directors may allot and issue under this Resolution, together with any shares issued and 
issuable in respect of all options granted or to be granted under the GEL Schemes as well as any shares, options or awards 
granted under any other share option or share scheme of the Company then in force (if any), shall not, in aggregate, exceed 
fifteen per centum (15%) of the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings of the Company 
on the day preceding that date.

5. The Ordinary Resolution 7 in item 8 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, effective until the conclusion 
of the next annual general meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next annual general meeting of the Company 
required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is the earlier, 
to purchase or otherwise acquire issued ordinary Shares of the Company by way of On-Market Share Buy-Backs or Off-Market 
Share Buy-Backs of up to the Maximum Limit at the Maximum Price in accordance with the terms and conditions set out in the 
Appendix to this Notice of Annual General Meeting, the Act and the Catalist Rules. Please refer to the Appendix to this Notice 
of Annual General Meeting for more details.

Notes:

1. (a) A member who is not a relevant intermediary, is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote at the Annual 
General Meeting (the “Meeting”).

(b) A member who is a relevant intermediary, is entitled to appoint more than two proxies to attend and vote at the Meeting, 
but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different Share or Shares held by such member.

“Relevant intermediary” has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 181 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.

2. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. The form of proxy in the case of an individual shall be signed by the appointer or his/her attorney, and in the case of a 
corporation, either under its common seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

4. If the form of proxy is returned without any indication as to how the proxy shall vote, the proxy will vote or abstain as he/she 
thinks fit.

5. If no name is inserted in the space for the name of your proxy in the form of proxy, the Chairman of the Meeting will act as your 
proxy.

6. The form of proxy or other instruments of appointment shall not be treated as valid unless deposited at the Company’s Registered 
Office at 50 Raffles Place #32-01 Singapore Land Tower, Singapore 048623, not less than seventy-two (72) hours before the time 
appointed for holding the Meeting and at any adjournment thereof.

Personal data privacy:

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the Meeting and/or any 
adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (a) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s personal data 
by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and administration by the Company (or its agents) of proxies and 
representatives appointed for the Meeting (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance 
lists, minutes and other documents relating to the Meeting (including any adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its 
agents) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (b) warrants that 
where the member discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents), 
the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the 
Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (c) agrees that the 
member will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the 
member’s breach of warranty.
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GSS ENERGY LIMITED
(Company Registration No. 201432529C)
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

PROXY FORM
(Please see notes overleaf before completing this Form)

IMPORTANT: 
1. A relevant intermediary may appoint more than two (2) 

proxies to attend the annual general meeting (“AGM”) 
and vote (please see note 4 for the definition of “relevant 
intermediary”).

2. For investor who holds shares under Central Provident 
Fund Investment Scheme (“CPF Investor”) and/or the 
Supplementary Retirement Scheme (“SRS Investor”) (as may 
be applicable), this Proxy Form is not valid for use and shall 
be ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported 
to be used by them. CPF/SRS Investor should contact their 
respective CPF Agent Banks/SRS Operators if they have any 
queries regarding their appointment as proxies.

I/We, 

of 
being a member/members of GSS ENERGY LIMITED hereby appoint:

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the AGM as my/our proxy/proxies to vote for me/us on my/our behalf 
at the AGM of the Company to be held on Friday, 26 April 2019, at 10.00 a.m. and at any adjournment 
thereof. I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Resolutions proposed at the AGM 
as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting is given or in the event of any other matter 
arising at the AGM and at any adjournment thereof, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting 
at his/her discretion. The authority herein includes the right to demand or to join in demanding a poll 
and to vote on a poll.

All resolutions put to the vote at the AGM shall be decided by way of poll.

(Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with a tick [] within the box provided.)

No. Resolutions relating to: For Against

1 To receive and adopt the Directors’ Statement and the Audited Financial 
Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2018 together with 
the Auditors’ Reports thereon

2 To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees of S$72,000 for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2018

3a To re-elect Mr Yeung Kin Bond Sydney as a Director pursuant to Regulation 89 
of the Constitution of the Company

3b To re-elect Mr Fung Kau Lee Glenn as a Director pursuant to Regulation 89 
of the Constitution of the Company

4 To re-appoint Messrs BDO LLP as the Auditors of the Company and to 
authorise the Directors of the Company to fix their remuneration

5 Authority to allot and issue shares

6 Authority to grant share options, allot and issue shares under GSS Energy 
Limited Executives’ Share Option Scheme and GSS Energy Limited 2018 
Executives’ Share Option Scheme

7 The proposed renewal of the Share Buy-Back Mandate

Dated this  day of  2019

Total number of Shares in: No. of Shares

(a) CDP Register

(b) Register of Members

Signature of Shareholder(s) 
or, Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder



Notes:

1. Please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register 
(as defined in Section 81SF of the Securities and Futures Act, Cap. 289), you should insert that number of Shares. If you have 
Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares. If you have Shares entered 
against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the 
aggregate number of Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register 
of Members. If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the Shares 
held by you.

2. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint not more than two 
proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion of his/her 
shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

4. A member who is a relevant intermediary entitled to attend the meeting and vote is entitled to appoint more than two proxies to 
attend and vote instead of the member, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different Share 
or Shares held by such member. Where such member appoints more than two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless 
the member specifies the number of Shares in relation to which each proxy has been appointed.

“Relevant intermediary” means:

(a) A banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act, Cap. 19 or a wholly-owned subsidiary of such a banking corporation, 
whose business includes the provision of nominee services and who holds shares in that capacity;

(b) a person holding a capital markets services license to provide custodial services for securities under the Securities and 
Futures Act, Cap. 289 and who holds shares in that capacity; or

(c) the Central Provident Fund Board established by the Central Provident Fund Act, Cap. 36, in respect of shares purchased 
under the subsidiary legislation made under that Act providing for the making of investments from the contributions and 
interest standing to the credit of members of the Central Provident Fund, if the Central Provident Fund Board holds those 
shares in the capacity of an intermediary pursuant to or in accordance with that subsidiary legislation.

5. Completion and return of this instrument appointing a proxy shall not preclude a member from attending and voting at the AGM. 
Any appointment of a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to be revoked if a member attends the meeting in person, and in such 
event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under the instrument of proxy to the 
AGM.

6. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office at 50 Raffles Place #32-01 Singapore Land Tower, 
Singapore 048623, not less than seventy-two (72) hours before the time appointed for the AGM.

7. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his/her attorney duly authorised in 
writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its 
seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed 
by an attorney on behalf of the appointor, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must be lodged with 
the instrument.

8. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fit 
to act as its representative at the AGM, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible 
or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument 
appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any 
instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares entered against 
his/her name in the Depository Register as at seventy-two (72) hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM, as certified by 
The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

Personal Data Privacy

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), the member accepts and agrees to the personal data 
privacy terms set out in the Notice of AGM dated 11 April 2019.
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